
 IPSASB Meeting (December 2013) Agenda Item 1.3 
  

Approved Minutes of the Meeting of the 
INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD 

Held on September 16-19, 2013 in Toronto, Canada 

1. Attendance, Opening Remarks, and Approval of Minutes 
1.1 Attendance – Toronto, Canada 
 Voting Members Technical Advisors 

Present: Andreas Bergmann (Chair) 

Ron Salole (Deputy Chair) 

Ian Carruthers (Monday-Tuesday) 

Robert Dacey 

Mariano D’Amore 

Rachid El Bejjet 

Sheila Fraser (Monday, Thursday) 

Guohua Huang 

Kenji Izawa 

Massud Mazaffar 

Thomas Müller-Marqués Berger 

Anne Owuor  

Guy Piolé 

Jeannine Poggiolini 

Adriana Tiron Tudor 

Wan Selamah Wan Sulaiman 

Ken Warren 

Tim Youngberry 

Sajjad Ahmad (Mr. Mazaffar) 

Stefan Berger (Mr. Bergmann) 

Lindy Bodewig (Ms. Poggiolini) 

Takeo Fukiya (Mr. Izawa) 

Baudouin Griton (Mr. Piolé) 

Yangchun Lu (Mr. Huang) 

Rasmimi Ramli (Datuk Wan Sulaiman) 

Joanne Scott (Mr. Warren) 

Gillian Waldbauer (Mr. Müller-Marqués 
Berger) 

Stuart Barr (Ms. Fraser) 

 

 

 

Apologies:  Tim Beauchamp (Mr. Salole) 

Aziz El Khattabi (Mr. El Bejjet) 

Fabrizio Mocavini (Mr. D’Amore) 

Joanna Spencer (Mr. Youngberry) 

Chris Wobschall (Mr. Carruthers) 
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 Non-Voting Observers 

Present: Simon Bradbury (ADB) 

Sagé de Clerck (IMF) 

Abdul Khan (IMF) 

Martin Koehler (EC) 

Brian Quinn (World Bank)  (Monday-Tuesday) 

Darshak Shah (UNDP) (Monday-Tuesday) 

John Verrinder (Eurostat) 

Apologies: Dinara Alieva (UNDP) 

Jón Blöndal (OECD) 

Ian Mackintosh (IASB)  

Delphine Moretti (IMF) 

Chandramouli Ramanathan (UN) 

 IFAC Staff 

Present: Stephenie Fox, Technical Director, IPSASB 

Gwenda Jensen, IPSASB 

Grant Macrae, IPSASB 

Ross Smith, IPSASB 

John Stanford, Deputy Director, IPSASB 

Paul Sutcliffe, IPSASB 

Jim Sylph, Executive Director, Professional Standards (Thursday) 

The Chair welcomed the members to Toronto and noted that all members are in attendance. 
The IPSASB reviewed the draft minutes of the June 2013 meeting and approved these with no 
amendments.  

The observer from the World Bank updated the IPSASB on the work of the IPSASB Governance Review 
Group. He noted that the draft consultation paper was close to completion and that it was anticipated that 
a final draft for review by the Review group would be available by the beginning of October 2013 with the 
goal of issuing the paper for consultation by the end of October with a response date of January 31, 2014. 
The Review Group anticipates agreeing its final recommendations in the first half of 2014. 

The observer from Eurostat provided a brief update on European Public sector standards (EPSAS) noting 
that a meeting of the governance committee would be held at the beginning of October. This will be 
attended by Ian Carruthers as the Chair is unable to attend.  

The IPSASB received the IASB tracking table for information. 

 
2. First Time Adoption of Accrual IPSAS (Agenda Item 2) 
At this meeting the IPSASB was asked to: 

• Consider and discuss preliminary views on issues arising out of the development of the proposed 
Exposure Draft, and  
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• Consider and approve the proposed Exposure Draft for issue. 

The IPSASB also noted a summary of the transitional exemptions included in the proposed Exposure 
Draft.  

Issues impacting the finalization of the proposed Exposure Draft 

The IPSASB debated four matters that impacted the finalization of the proposed Exposure Draft.  

The first matter related to the interaction between the asset related IPSASs and IPSAS 5, Borrowing 
Costs where a first-time adopter has taken advantage of the transitional relief period to not recognize 
assets for a period of three years. The IPSASB agreed that, because it might not be practical to obtain 
information on borrowing costs incurred prior to the recognition of the asset where a first-time adopter has 
elected to apply the three transitional relief period relating to the recognition of assets, it should be 
required to capitalize borrowing costs prospective once the transitional exemptions that provided the relief 
have expired, and/or the assets are recognized in accordance with the applicable IPSASs (whichever is 
earlier). 

The next matter related to whether an internally generated intangible asset should specifically be 
excluded from the paragraph dealing with deemed cost. At is previous meeting, the IPSASB agreed that, 
in considering the application of a deemed cost for internally generated intangible assets, it would be 
difficult to retrospectively assess the probability of expected future economic benefits or service potential 
through reasonable and supportable assumptions. Due to the absence of reliable information on the date 
of adoption of IPSASs, it was agreed that a deemed cost may not be determined for internally generated 
intangible assets. This exclusion is specifically noted in the paragraph on deemed cost. The IPSASB 
confirmed its previous decision to specifically exclude an internally generated intangible asset. No 
amendments were proposed to the paragraph on deemed cost in this regard.  

The next matter for discussion related to whether the exemption to not present a segment report for three 
years will, or will not, affect the fair presentation of a first-time adopter’s financial statements and its ability 
to assert compliance with accrual basis IPSASs. Some IPSASB members were of the view that not 
presenting a segment report for three years will affect fair presentation and a first-time adopter’s ability to 
assert compliance with accrual basis IPSASs. The majority of the IPSASB members were, however, of 
the view that not presenting a segment report for a period of three years will not affect fair presentation as 
segment information provides information which is presented in addition to the information required on the 
elements presented in the financial statements. It was agreed that the exemption related to the 
presentation of a segment report should be included in the section where exemptions that do not affect 
fair presentation and compliance with accrual basis IPSASs, are addressed. 

The last matter related to whether a first-time adopter should be allowed to determine a deemed cost for 
financial instruments on adoption of accrual basis IPSASs. The IPSASB agreed that a first-time adopter 
should be allowed to also determine a deemed cost for financial instruments by applying the definition of 
fair value and the guidance in the applicable IPSASs. 

Proposed Exposure Draft on First-Time Adoption of Accrual Basis IPSASs 

The IPSASB then reviewed the proposed Exposure Draft in considering it for approval as an Exposure 
Draft.  

Request for Comment 

In considering the matters for comment, the IPSASB agreed that respondents’ views should be requested 
on more general matters, such as whether the three year relief period allowed for the recognition and/or 
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measurement of specific assets and/or liabilities are appropriate, and whether they support the 
differentiation between transitional exemptions that do not affect fair presentation and a first-time 
adopter’s ability to assert compliance with accrual basis IPSASs, and those that do.  

It was also agreed that the information available to assist a first-time adopter with its transition to accrual 
accounting should be listed as bullet points under the section that deals with the ‘objective of the 
Exposure Draft’.  

The IPSASB also agreed that a paragraph should be included in the request for comment to explain that 
the transitional exemptions relating to consolidated financial statements as included in the proposed 
IPSAS, is based on the existing guidance in IPSAS 6, 7 and 8. The IPSASB will reconsider these 
transitional exemptions once comment in received on EDs 48 to 52, which are issued as the same time 
as this Exposure Draft.  

Proposed Exposure Draft 

The IPSASB agreed that the term “first accrual basis financial statements following the adoption of 
accrual accounting” should be replaced with “transitional IPSAS financial statements” in distinguishing a 
first-time adopter’s first IPSAS financial statements where it can claim compliance with accrual basis 
IPSASs, from the financial statements that are prepared during the period of transition following the 
adoption of accrual basis IPSASs. It was also agreed that this amendment should be revised throughout 
the proposed Exposure Draft and that the implementation guidance should explain the difference 
accordingly.  

The IPSASB considered the proposed principle that allows a first-time adopter to not recognize certain 
non-monetary assets and/or liabilities for a period of three years following the adoption of accrual basis 
IPSASs. The IPSASB agreed that the principle should be applied consistently to monetary and non-
monetary assets. It was therefore agreed that, a three year relief period should be allowed for the 
recognition of monetary and non-monetary assets and/or liabilities that have not been recognized by a 
first-time adopter under its previous basis of accounting. To the extent that a first-time adopter has 
recognized monetary and/or non-monetary assets and/or liabilities under its previous basis of accounting, 
the first-time adopter may elect to not measure such assets and/or liabilities for a period of three years. 
The IPSASB further agreed that during this three year period, a first-time adopter will be allowed to apply 
accounting policies for the measurement of such assets and/or liabilities that differs from the requirements 
in accrual basis IPSASs.  

The IPSASB debated the exemptions that allow a first-time adopter to not eliminate some transactions, 
balances, revenue and expenses for reporting periods beginning on a date within three years following 
the adoption of accrual basis IPSASs, in preparing consolidated financial statements. Some IPSASB 
members were of the view that a first-time adopter should not be allowed to selectively elect which 
transactions, balances, revenue and expenses it wants to eliminate. The majority of the IPSASB, 
however, agreed that the proposed IPSASs cannot be prescriptive on which transactions, balances, 
revenue and expenses should be eliminated. In providing appropriate relief to a first-time adopter, it was 
agreed that the exemption should not be amended. It was, however, agreed that the proposed IPSAS 
should require a first-time adopter to present consolidated financial statements following the adoption of 
accrual basis IPSASs, and that this requirement should be included in the proposed IPSAS.  

The statements to be presented and included in the first transitional IPSAS, or first IPSAS financial 
statements where a first-time adopter elects to, or elects not to present comparative information in 
accordance with the proposed IPSAS, were debated. It was agreed that the period to which the opening 
statements of financial position relates, should be clarified in the proposed IPSAS.   
 Agenda Item 1.3  
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It was agreed that the phrase “and disclose the nature of the main adjustments that would make it comply 
with IPSASs” should also be included in the paragraph that deals with non-IPSAS comparative 
information. 

The IPSASB considered the disclosure requirements in the proposed Exposure Draft. It was agreed that a 
first-time adopter should be required to disclose the extent to which it has taken advantage of the 
transitional exemptions that impact, the fair presentation of the financial statements and its ability to 
assert compliance with accrual basis IPSASs. It was agreed that the disclosure requirement to disclose 
the fact that it has taken advantage of some transitional exemptions should be deleted as it is 
appropriately dealt with in the revised disclosure requirement.  

The IPSASB also agreed that a transitional provision paragraph should be included in providing guidance 
to a first-time adopter that has taken advantage of existing transitional exemptions in other accrual basis 
IPSASs in transitioning to accrual basis IPSASs. It was agreed that, if a first-time adopter has taken 
advantage of existing transitional exemptions in other accrual basis IPSASs, it could continue to apply 
those exemptions until they expire or until the relevant items are recognized and/or measured. If, 
however, the first-time adopter elects to adopt the transitional exemptions in this IPSAS, the IPSASB 
agreed that the relief period applied in adopting other accrual basis IPSASs, may not be longer than the 
relief period provided in the proposed IPSAS.  

It was agreed that some grey letter paragraphs should be deleted as they merely duplicated the 
requirements in the bold paragraph. Some other editorial comments were also noted.  

Basis for Conclusions 

The IPSASB agreed to the deletion of certain paragraphs in the Basis for Conclusions in avoiding 
duplications. It was agreed that the Basis for Conclusions should clarify that the IPSASB did consider the 
transitional exemptions included in IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards, as well as the transitional provisions included in the existing suite of IPSASs, in developing the 
proposed IPSAS.  

It was further agreed that the reason for allowing a three transitional period for the recognition and/or 
measurement of revenue from non-exchange transactions should be expanded, in comparison with 
IPSAS 23 Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers) that allows a five year 
period.  

Implementation Guidance 

The IPSASB agreed that a illustrative diagram should be included in the proposed IPSAS to illustrate the 
timeline in presenting transitional IPSAS financial statements, and the first IPSAS financial statements.  

The IPSASB also noted that the summary of the transitional exemptions included in the proposed IPSAS 
is useful, and should be included as an Appendix to the proposed IPSAS. 

Subject to the amendments, it was agreed that the Secretariat should present an updated version of the 
proposed IPSASs within the next day for the IPSASB’s consideration. The IPSASB did, however, approve 
that the proposed Exposure Draft should be issued for comment.  

Revised proposed Exposure Draft 

In considering the revised proposed Exposure Draft, the IPSASB agreed that the reference to the 
guidance issued by the International Monetary Fund and European Public Sector Accounting Standards 
Committee in the Request for Comment should be deleted. Instead, reference should be made to 
guidance issued by countries themselves in assisting entities with the adoption of accrual basis IPSASs.  
 Agenda Item 1.3  
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The IPSASB also agreed that respondents’ views should be requested on whether the IPSASB achieved 
its goal in providing appropriate relief to a first-time adopter in its transition to accrual accounting. The 
specific matter for comment should also question whether respondents agree with making a differentiation 
between those transitional exemptions that do not affect the fair presentation of a first-time adopter`s 
financial statements and its ability to assert compliance with accrual basis IPSASs, and those that do, and 
whether the individual differentiation, is appropriate.  

In considering the revised Exposure Draft, the IPSASB agreed that the heading “Exemptions from Other 
Requirements of IPSASs” should be amended to “Exemptions that Do Not Affect Fair Presentation and 
Compliance with Accrual Basis IPSASs”.  

The IPSASB agreed that the transitional exemptions allowing a first-time adopter to not recognize and/or 
measure the related finance lease liability when it has taken advantage of the three year transitional relief 
period related to the recognition and/or measurement of the finance lease asset, should be limited to 
“recognition”. 

Other editorial amendments were also agreed.  

3. Review of IPSASs 6–8 (Agenda Item 3) 
The IPSASB was asked to:  

(a) Consider and resolve the remaining issues associated with the proposed exposure drafts 
(EDs). This included determining the accounting treatment of investment entities in the 
consolidated financial statements of a controlling entity that is not itself an investment entity 
(as discussed in agenda item 3.1); 

(b) Consider and approve for issue the five EDs that comprise this project (as set out in 
agenda items 3.2 to 3.6); and 

(c) Note an update on related IASB projects and an explanation of why those proposals have or 
have not been incorporated in the EDs. 

The agenda papers for this item were:  

Agenda Item 3.1 Issues Paper 
 Clean Versions of EDs (reviewed on a page by page basis) 
Agenda Item 3.2 ED 48, Consolidated Financial Statements 
Agenda Item 3.3 ED 49, Joint Arrangements 
Agenda Item 3.4 ED 50, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
Agenda Item 3.5 ED 51, Separate Financial Statements  
Agenda Item 3.6 ED 52, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures  
 Marked-up Versions of EDs (noted) 
Agenda Item 33 ED 48, Consolidated Financial Statements 
Agenda Item 3.8 ED 49, Joint Arrangements 
Agenda Item 3.9 ED 50, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
Agenda Item 3.10 ED 51, Separate Financial Statements  
Agenda Item 3.11 ED 52, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures  
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Subject to the changes agreed at the meeting, the IPSASB approved all five EDs. The IPSASB agreed 
that the EDs should propose the withdrawal of IPSASs 6 to 8 and the issuance of five new standards. The 
IPSASB agreed to issue the EDs in the following sequence: 

ED 48, Separate Financial Statements  

ED 49, Consolidated Financial Statements 

ED 50, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 

ED 51, Joint Arrangements 

ED 52, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities. 

The agenda papers proposed a due date for comments of January 31, 2014. The IPSASB considered 
that this would be appropriate if the EDs were issued soon after the meeting.  

The IPSASB noted that it had been working on this project for some time and had previously discussed 
most of the issues arising from the development of the EDs. The purpose of this review was to consider 
remaining issues and conduct a final review of all the EDs.  

The changes agreed in respect of each ED are set out below. The IPSASB’s decisions in respect of the 
accounting treatment of controlled investment entities in the consolidated financial statements of a 
controlling entity, that is not itself an investment entity, are recorded in the discussion of agenda item 3.2. 

In addition to the specific feedback on individual EDs, the IPSASB provided general drafting and editorial 
comments on the EDs including: 

(a) Agreeing that the references to binding arrangements should be standardized across the 
EDs, and that each ED referring to binding arrangements should include a definition of the 
term binding arrangements; 

(b) Confirming that the full title of each ED should be used throughout these EDs. The usual 
IPSAS Handbook style will be applied when final standards are issued; 

(c) Noting that the EDs would need to be renumbered to reflect the order in which the IPSASB 
had agreed they should be issued;  

(d) Noting that the EDs would need to reflect the proposed withdrawal of IPSAS 6 to 8;  

(e) Agreeing that the EDs should be reviewed to ensure that the use of bolded and unbolded 
paragraphs is consistent with other IPSASs; and 

(f) Noting noted that all paragraph numbering and cross-referencing would need to be reviewed 
to reflect changes agreed at the meeting. 

The EDs propose transitional provisions for entities that are already applying IPSASs. The IPSASB 
agreed that this was appropriate as the transitional provisions for entities adopting the final standards 
based on these EDs will be addressed later in the context of the project on first-time adoption.  

Agenda Item 3.2 Consolidated Financial Statements (to be issued as ED 49)  

The IPSASB agreed: 

(a) Specific Matters for Comment: To align the description of the accounting requirements in 
respect of a non-investment entity that controls an investment entity with the body of the ED. 
In addition, to seek feedback on whether the proposed approach is appropriate and 
practicable; 
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(b) Specific Matters for Comment: To include a specific matter for comment asking whether the 
IPSASB has achieved its objective of avoiding unnecessary differences between the 
requirements and guidance in the ED and the forthcoming Government Finance Statistics 
Manual 2013; 

(c) Economic Entity: To include an additional paragraph explaining that, together with user 
needs, constitutional arrangements in a jurisdiction need to be considered when determining 
the reporting entity. The IPSASB agreed that the case of a jurisdiction with a legislature, 
executive and judiciary could be used as an example. The IPSASB noted that constitutional 
arrangements can vary considerably between jurisdictions;  

(d) Presentation of Consolidated Financial Statements: To refer to an investment entity reporting 
in accordance with IPSASs in paragraph 5(c); 

(e) Definition of Benefits: To move the two sentences referring to examples of benefits to 
paragraph 25; 

(f) Definition of Investment Entity: To remove the reference, in part (b) of the definition, to an 
investment entity committing to investors what its purpose is. The IPSASB noted that this is 
not typically the way in which an entity’s objectives are established in the public sector; 

(g) Definition of Power: To replace the word “govern” with “direct”.  

(h) Power: To include reference to the concept of judicial independence (paragraph 19). To 
include a statement that the independence of a central bank in relation to monetary policy 
does not preclude the possibility of the central bank being controlled (paragraph 19). To refer, 
in paragraph 21, to an “entity being assessed for control” and to make this change elsewhere 
in the ED when it would improve the readability of the text; 

(i) Benefits: To move two examples from “financial benefits” to “non-financial benefits” 
(paragraphs 26 and 27). To remove duplication between the examples of benefits in the body 
of the ED and the Application Guidance (paragraphs 26, 27 and AG60); 

(j) Link between Power and Benefits: To move the guidance from paragraph AG61 to 
paragraph 31; 

(k) Consolidation Procedures: To delete the reference to guidance on income tax differences in 
paragraph 34(c); 

(l) Determining whether an Entity is an Investment Entity: To redraft the description of 
investment entities and the fair value requirements in respect of investment entities. Key 
points to be addressed in the redrafting are: 

○ The accounting requirements for (i) investment entities and (ii) the controlling entity of a 
controlled investment entity are to be addressed at the beginning of the section. No change 
was made to the proposed requirements for investment entities. The IPSASB noted that the 
draft ED illustrated the requirements of Option 2 in agenda paper 3.1. However, the 
IPSASB preferred Option 3, and agreed that the requirements should be changed to reflect 
this. Under Option 3 a controlling entity of an investment entity, that is not itself an 
investment entity, would be required to present consolidated financial statements in which it 
would (i) measure the investments of a controlled investment entity at fair value through 
surplus or deficit in accordance with IPSAS 29, and (ii) consolidate the other assets and 
liabilities of the controlled investment entity using the usual consolidation accounting 

 Agenda Item 1.3  
Page 8 of 47 



Draft Minutes September 2013 IPSASB Meeting  
IPSASB Meeting (December 2013) 

policies required by the ED. The IPSASB’s reasons for proposing this accounting treatment 
are to be outlined in the Basis for Conclusions; 

○ Paragraph 50 is to be deleted as it merely repeats the definition of an investment entity; 

○ The ED is to propose that an investment entity, other than one which has the 
characteristics specified in the ED, shall disclose information regarding significant 
judgments and assumptions made in determining that it is an investment entity. The actual 
disclosures are set out in the ED dealing with disclosures. The characteristics are not to be 
referred to as “typical characteristics” because they are unlikely to be typical in the public 
sector The characteristic referring to related parties is to be omitted from the ED; 

○ The related application guidance is to be reorganized and amended to be consistent with 
the changes noted above. Because the IPSASB decided not to separately identify typical 
characteristics of investment entities, the application guidance dealing with key 
characteristics is to be retained only to the extent that it can be directly linked to the 
definition of an investment entity. For example, the guidance on “one or more investments” 
in IFRS 10 is to be retained but the link between this guidance and the way in which an 
entity can demonstrate that its purpose is consistent with that of an investment entity is to 
be explained. The guidance on unrelated investors (paragraphs AG109 to AG112) is to be 
omitted; 

(m) Withdrawal of IPSAS 6: To propose the withdrawal of IPSAS 6 by this ED and the ED dealing 
with separate financial statements. 

(n) Economic Dependence: To combine paragraphs AG42 and AG 43.  

(o) Remuneration: To remove paragraph 73(a) which refers to the remuneration of the decision 
maker being commensurate with services provided; 

(p) Basis for Conclusions: To include a description of the approach taken in developing the ED, 
including having regard to the public sector guidance in IPSAS 6 and the requirements for 
establishing whether control exists in the forthcoming GFSM 2013; 

(q) Basis for Conclusions: To include specific examples of where the guidance in GFSM has 
been considered in developing the ED, such as golden shares;  

(r) Basis for Conclusions: To include the rationale for its proposals in relation to the accounting 
by a controlling entity that is not itself an investment entity, but which has a controlled 
investment entity. The IPSASB considered that its proposals reflect the fact that a controlling 
entity does not manage an investment entity itself on a fair value basis. Rather, it manages 
the investments of the investment entity on a fair value basis. This approach is also 
consistent with the accounting by an investment entity for its investments; 

(s) Basis for Conclusions: To explain why the IPSASB agreed to provide additional examples of 
entities that would not be investment entities and the IPSASB’s decision to require the 
disclosure of judgments and assumptions made in determining that an entity is an investment 
entity; 

(t) Implementation Guidance Flowchart 1: Amend the accounting requirements when control 
exists to acknowledge that there are specific requirements for investment entities;  

(u) Implementation Guidance Flowchart 2: In the text box on the far right, allow for the possibility 
that an investment may fall within the scope of IPSAS 29; and 
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(v) Comparison with IFRS 10: Note that the proposed IPSAS will not separately identify typical 
characteristics of an investment entity. 

Subject to the changes agreed, the IPSASB voted to approve ED 49 Consolidated Financial Statements 
by 17 votes to 1. 

Agenda Item 3.3 Joint Arrangements (to be issued as ED 51) 

The IPSASB agreed: 

(a) Types of Joint Arrangement: To delete paragraph 19 as it merely repeats the definition of a 
“joint operation” and “joint operator”; and 

(b) Illustrative Examples: To include an additional public sector example of a joint arrangement, 
possibly dealing with the cared of the elderly. 

Subject to the changes agreed, the IPSASB voted unanimously to approve ED 51 Joint Arrangements. 

Agenda Item 3.4 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (to be issued as ED 52) 

The IPSASB agreed: 

(a) To add a specific matter for comment asking whether constituents support the proposals in 
general;  

(b) Objective: To replace the reference to “interests in other entities” with a reference to the 
specific types of interests such as controlled entities (paragraph 1); 

(c) Objective: To move paragraphs 2 to 4 to follow paragraph 10 so that they form an 
introduction to the paragraphs specifying disclosure requirements; 

(d) Scope: To include the generic scope paragraph referring to entities applying accrual based 
IPSASs prior to paragraph 5; 

(e) Scope: To replace the reference to “unconsolidated structured entities” with a reference to 
structured entities that are not consolidated. This change will need to be made throughout 
the ED; 

(f) Definitions: To confirm the definition of a structured entity, having regard to how that definition 
had been modified for the public sector environment; 

(g) The Nature and Extent of Significant Restrictions: To refer to “significant restrictions in 
binding arrangements”, with the examples of restrictions being retained (paragraph 19(a)); 

(h) Interests in Unconsolidated Controlled Entities; To refer to “binding arrangements” rather than 
“contractual obligations” (in paragraphs 29, 30 and 32, and elsewhere in the ED); and 

(i) Interests in Unconsolidated Structured Entities: To clarify that the partnership referred to in 
paragraph AG22(a) is not a joint venture. 

Subject to the changes agreed, the IPSASB voted unanimously to approve ED 52 Disclosure of Interests 
in Other Entities. 

Agenda Item 3.5 Separate Financial Statements (to be issued as ED 48) 

The IPSASB agreed: 

(a) To add a specific matter for comment asking whether constituents support the proposals in 
general; and 
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(b) To include a reference to the equity method in paragraph 16, for consistency with the 
permitted options in paragraph 13. 

Subject to the changes agreed, the IPSASB voted unanimously to approve ED 48 Separate Financial 
Statements. 

Agenda Item 3.6 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (to be issued as ED 50) 

The IPSASB agreed: 

(a) To add a specific matter for comment asking whether constituents support the proposals in 
general; 

(b) To add a specific matter for comment asking whether it is appropriate for the scope of the ED 
to be restricted to situations where the investment leads to the holding of a quantifiable 
ownership interest; 

(c) To remove any unnecessary duplication in the paragraphs dealing with uniform reporting 
dates (paragraphs 35 and 35); 

(d) To refer, in the discussion on impairment losses of an associate or joint venture, to IPSAS 26 
first and IPSAS 21 as being possibly relevant and to summarize the relevant requirements of 
IPSAS 21 (paragraph 44); and 

(e) To include, in the Basis for Conclusions, the IPSASB’s reason for retaining the presumption 
that an entity has significant influence over another entity if it holds 20% or more of the voting 
power of an investee. 

Subject to the changes agreed, the IPSASB voted to approve ED 50 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures by 17 votes, with one member being absent. 

Agenda Items 3.7 to 3.11  

These agenda items were marked up versions of the EDs showing changes to the text of the underlying 
standards. The IPSASB noted these agenda items. 

4. Conceptual Framework (Agenda Item 2)  
4.1 Coordinator’s Report (AP 2)1 
The IPSASB considered a report from the Project Coordinator and the lead staff member for Phase 4: 
Presentation dealing with: 

• A very high level summary of the initial Staff perceptions on the response to Conceptual Framework 
Exposure Draft 4 (CF–ED4), Presentation in General Purpose Financial Reports; 

• The Project Timetable;  

• Issues in the International Accounting Standards Board’s (IASB) Discussion Paper,  A Review of 
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting; and 

• The Preface to the Conceptual Framework.  

1  The Project Brief for the Conceptual Framework consists of three subject groups. Group 1 addresses: the role, authority and 
scope; objectives and users; qualitative characteristics, and the reporting entity (also referred to as Phase 1). Group 2 
addresses elements of GPFSs and recognition (also referred to as Phase 2), and Group 3 addresses measurement (also 
referred to as Phase 3) and presentation and disclosure (also referred to as Phase 4). 
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Very High Level Summary of the Initial Staff perceptions on the response to Conceptual 
Framework Exposure Draft 4 (CF–ED4), Presentation in General Purpose Financial Reports 
 
The lead author of CF–ED4 provided an initial very high level summary of the response to the ED. 33 
responses had been received as at the date of the meeting. Staff’s high-level preliminary assessment was 
that responses generally were supportive of the approach in CF–ED4. However, a minority of 
respondents had expressed concerns. These were mainly related to: 

• Terminology: Concerns that (i) the descriptions of “display” and “disclosure” imply that note 
disclosures in the financial statements are less important than displayed information and always 
have to relate to displayed information; (ii) the IPSASB terminology differs unnecessarily from 
generally accepted terminology; and, iii) terminology should be consistent with that being developed 
in the IASB Conceptual Framework developments, where “disclosure” applies to information made 
available regardless of location;  

• Location decisions: Whether location decisions should be treated as a subset of information 
organization decisions, instead of being treated as a third type of decision; and 

• Fundamental approach: Opposition to development of presentation concepts applicable to both 
financial statements and other financial reports. 

 
There had been support for development of a “disclosures framework”, which would include a description 
of responsibilities for decisions by preparers, standard setters and auditors. 
 
Reservations had also been expressed that CF–ED4 was not useful, provided guidance rather than 
concepts and repeated material from Chapters 1 to 4 of the Conceptual Framework. 
The Chair found the initial summary encouraging. A full analysis, collation and summary of the responses 
would be provided for the December 2013 meeting. 
 
The Project Timetable 
The Coordinator noted that a revised project timetable had been circulated following the June 2013 
meeting. He directed members to the project plan in the appendix to the agenda item, which had minor 
further revisions reflecting the implementation of the direction to make the Preface to the Conceptual 
Framework available on the IPSASB website. 

The Coordinator repeated the point made at previous meetings that the timing for completion of the 
Framework was very tight and demanding in some places, particularly for Phase 4. He highlighted that 
there were only the December 2013 and March 2014 meetings to complete a review of the responses to 
CF–ED4 and to discuss and approve the final chapter. The Coordinator considered that such a timetable 
is unrealistic and proposed that the date for approval of the chapters from Phases 2-4 and the Preface 
should be put back until June 2014. The Coordinator also suggested that putting back the approval date 
to June 2014 would give more time to discuss financial performance and financial position in Phase 2. 

The proposal to put the approval of the chapters from Phases 2-4 and the Preface back until June 2014 
was unanimously approved. In accordance with normal procedures the timetable would be revised and 
circulated to members after the meeting 
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Issues in the International Accounting Standards Board’s (IASB) Discussion Paper, A review of 
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 

The Coordinator noted that the IASB had published a Discussion Paper (DP), A Review of the Conceptual 
Framework for Financial Reporting, in mid-July. The DP has a consultation period that expires in mid-
January 2014. The Coordinator informed Members that the IASB was supporting the consultation through 
a number of outreach events in London, Toronto, Sao Paulo and Tokyo in October and November 2013. 

It was noted that the DP included numerous examples and references to issues in current International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The DP also included a number of preliminary views whereas the 
Framework Consultation Papers issued by the IPSASB had generally not included preliminary views.  

The DP contained an acknowledgement that the IASB has considered the work of the IPSASB to develop 
its Conceptual Framework. The DP recognized that because the IPSASB sets International Public Sector 
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) and Recommended Practice Guidelines (RPGs) for the public sector 
differences between the frameworks being developed by the IPSASB and the IASB might arise. The 
Coordinator also informed the IPSASB that IPSASB Staff had been invited to make a presentation on the 
linkages between the IPSASB and the IASB on the frameworks at the IFRS Advisory Council meeting in 
London in October 2013. Members welcomed the acknowledgement of the IPSASB’s project and the 
further comments on IPSASB in the DP. The Chair particularly appreciated the acknowledgment as it 
shows that the IASB sees IPSASB’s relationship with the IASB in the same light as the IPSASB views the 
relationship:  they do not view the boards as linked, but respect rather than oppose each other’s views. 

In accordance with previously notified intentions the DP included the text of Chapters 1, The Objective of 
General Purpose Financial Reporting, and Chapter 3, Qualitative Characteristics of Useful Financial 
Information, as appendices. These chapters had been completed before the IASB–Financial Accounting 
Standards Board joint project on the Framework was deactivated in 2010. As indicated previously the 
IASB does not intend to fundamentally reconsider the content of these chapters, but will make changes if 
work on other areas of the Framework suggests that material needs amending or clarifying. 

In addition an appendix to the DP summarized the proposals of the ED on the reporting entity issued in 
March 2010 and the comments received on that ED. It is expected that the ED on the Framework to be 
issued in 2014 will include a section on the reporting entity. 

The Coordinator then highlighted some points in the DP that he considered of particular interest to the 
IPSASB. He cautioned that he was not providing a summary of the DP and had not highlighted some 
important areas with limited public sector significance such as the definition of equity and the distinction 
between liabilities and equity. The purpose was to identify issues that might inform discussion in the 
various phases of the IPSASB’s Framework rather than lead to extensive discussion in this part of the 
agenda. 

Elements and Recognition 

The IASB DP had proposed definitions of five elements: 

• Assets; 

• Liabilities; 

• Equity; 

• Income; and 
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• Expense. 

In the context of the definitions of an asset and a liability the DP also proposed a draft definition of an 
economic resource. 

In comparison IPSASB had proposed eight elements. The Chair expressed some surprise that ownership 
contributions had not been defined. The Coordinator suggested that, because equity is defined, there may 
be no need to define ownership contributions or ownership distributions and that contributions and 
distributions of equity were in the list of potential further elements.  

It was noted that the draft definitions of an asset and a liability in the DP were similar to those in CF–ED2. 
The liability definitions both included a present obligation and a past event(s) as essential components 
and the asset definitions had included control of a resource and a past event.  

The DP also acknowledged that further elements for the statement of cash flows and the statement of 
changes in equity may be necessary. The DP did not propose definitions for these elements, but the IASB 
did not foresee difficulties in developing definitions for the ED planned for 2014 if considered appropriate. 
The potential further elements are: 

• Cash receipts; 

• Cash payments; 

• Contributions of equity; 

• Distributions of equity; 

• Transfers between classes of equity; 

The Coordinator noted the following further points on elements and recognition: 

• An acknowledgement in the DP of the distinction in the existing Framework between (i) revenue 
arising in the course of the ordinary activities of an entity and gains, which represent other items 
that meet the definition of income and may, or may not, arise in the course of the ordinary activities 
of the entity; and (ii) expenses that arise in the course of the ordinary activities of an entity and 
losses, which may, or may not, arise in the course of the ordinary activities of the entity. However, 
as distinguishing these four items would require ordinary activities to be defined, the IASB 
expressed a view that the process of deciding whether to distinguish these four items would be best 
carried out in a separate project on financial statement presentation rather than in the Conceptual 
Framework; 

• The IASB did not propose to define separate elements for income and expenses reported in profit 
or less and income and expenses reported in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI); 

• A preliminary view in the DP that the definition of a liability should not be limited to obligations that 
are enforceable by legal or equivalent means; 

• Stand-ready obligations are obligations where the requirement to transfer an economic resource 
depends on the occurrence of one or more future events that are outside the control of the entity. 
The IASB had concluded that these unconditional obligations are present obligations that meet the 
definition of a liability; 

• In the context of conditionality where the eventual need to transfer economic resources is 
dependent on the entity’s future actions the DP examined three views and applied these views to a 
number of scenarios. The IASB had not established a consensus or preliminary view on a specific 
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approach. However, IASB had rejected the view that obligations must be strictly unconditional in 
order for a liability to arise; 

• There were few perceived problems with the definitions of income and expenses in the current 
Framework and any changes to those definitions are likely to be limited to minor drafting changes 
resulting from changes to the definitions of the other elements; 

• The DP indicates that the IASB could improve the existing brief material on executory contracts in 
the existing Framework by explaining the nature of the rights and obligations that arise under 
executory contracts and other forward contracts and why those rights and obligations might not be 
recognized as an asset or liability; 

• The analysis of recognition distinguishes existence uncertainty and outcome uncertainty. Outcome 
uncertainty is broadly similar to what the IPSASB has termed “measurement uncertainty”; and 

• The DP expressed a view that the Conceptual Framework should not set a probability threshold to 
determine whether an asset or liability exists, in the rare cases when this is uncertain. If there is 
significant uncertainty is significant in a particular project, the IASB would decide on appropriate 
thresholds in that project. 

Observations were made that the DP focuses on more diverse and different areas than the IPSASB such 
as Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) and revaluations. It was noted that the DP did not discuss 
deferrals. 

Measurement 

The Coordinator highlighted a number of points related to measurement He noted that the DP put forward 
a preliminary view that the objective of measurement is “to contribute to the faithful representation of 
relevant information about the resources of the entity, claims against the entity and changes in resources 
and claims, and about how efficiently and effectively the entity’s management and governance board 
have discharged their responsibilities to use the entity’s resources.” He noted that this objective shared 
the characteristic of the developing IPSASB measurement objective of not being based on a single 
measurement basis or group of measurement bases, as advocated by some constituents. Related to this, 
while acknowledging the seeming advantages of a single measurement basis, the preliminary view in the 
DP is that such an approach would often not provide relevant information and that the Conceptual 
Framework should not recommend measuring all assets and liabilities on the same basis. 

The Chair found the fact that the DP did not identify an ideal measurement basis reassuring and 
consistent with the IPSASB position 

The Coordinator also highlighted that: 

• The DP had expressed a view that the number of different measurements used should be the 
smallest number necessary to provide relevant information; 

• The DP groups measurement into three categories 

○ Cost-based measurements 

○ Current market prices 

○ Other cash-flow-based measurements 
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• Cost-based measures include what IPSASB has termed historical cost. The DP provides a 
definition of cost derived from IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, IAS 38, Intangible Assets 
and IAS 40, Investment Property: the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of 
the other consideration given to acquire an assert at the time of its acquisition or construction;. 

• The CP notes that what is to be included in cost is further specified at standards level. The initial; 
cost–based measures can be adjusted subsequently for a variety of reasons including depreciation 
or amortization, accrual of interest, accretion of discount or amortization of premium and 
impairment or a liability becoming more onerous; 

• There is a brief discussion of deprival value which is broadly similar to the discussion in the Basis 
for Conclusion in the IPSASB Consultation Paper on Measurement, but the DP does not propose 
adoption of the deprival value model; 

• The DP states that fair value is the most frequently used current value measurement in existing 
IFRSs and provides the definition in IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement: price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. It is acknowledged that this is an exit price; 

• It is acknowledged that current market prices are often not directly observable and need to be 
estimated. This gives rise to issues of relevance, disclosures related to faithful representation and 
cost-benefit considerations; 

• The DP suggests that an exit price is likely to be relevant when an asset is held for sale. In contrast 
entry prices might provide more relevant information when assets are held for use rather than for 
sale or exit prices are unavailable or do not reflect orderly transactions between willing buyers and 
sellers; 

• The other cash-flow-based category acknowledges that such measures are neither current market 
prices nor cost-based. The DP indicates that such measurement are currently used in IFRSs for: 

○ Impairments of financial assets, lease receivables and lease liabilities carried at amortized 
cost; 

○ Impairment of non-financial assets; 

○ Net realizable value of inventories; 

○ Provisions; 

○ Liabilities for post-employment benefits; and  

○ Deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

The Coordinator noted that there are IPSASs on all these topics except for deferred tax assets and 
liabilities and that he intended to raise this issue in the agenda item on measurement. 

• The relevance of a particular measurement at both initial recognition and subsequently will depend 
on how investors, creditors and other lenders are likely to assess how an asset or liability will 
contribute to the entity’s future cash flows; and 

• The DP discusses entity and market perspectives. It suggests that the use of a particular 
perspective depends on two factors– the availability of market information and the likely relevance 
of each perspective for the specific asset or liability. The market perspective may be particularly 
relevant for assets that will be sold without significant selling effort. The entity-specific perspective 
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may be more relevant for some assets held for use and for liabilities that will be settled by 
performing services. 

The discussion of entry and exit values was considered interesting and helpful. The Coordinator 
considered that, overall, the DP put the emphasis on exit values, which reflected the objectives of 
financial reporting and the identification of investors as the primary users of financial reports. However, he 
had heard views that considered the emphasis on exit values has been exaggerated,  

Presentation 

• The DP uses the term “presentation” to denote disclosure of financial information on the face of an 
entity’s primary financial statements. “Disclosure” is a broader term: the process of providing useful 
financial information about the reporting entity to users. The DP states that the financial statements 
including the amounts and descriptions presented in the primary statements; 

• Unlike the IPSASB’s Framework the DP identifies the primary financial statements: 

○ The statement of financial position; 

○ The statement of profit or loss and OCI (or the statement of profit or loss and the statement 
of comprehensive income); 

○ The statement of changes in equity; and 

○ The statement of cash flows. 

• The DP proposes that the objective of the primary financial statements is to provide summarized 
information about recognized assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses, changes in equity and 
cash flows that has been classified and aggregated in a manner that is useful to users in making 
decisions about providing resources to the entity; 

• The notes to the financial statements support the primary financial statements. They supplement 
the primary financial statements by providing additional useful information about: 

○ The assets, liabilities equity, income, expenses, changes in equity and cash flows of the 
entity; and 

○ How efficiently and effectively the entity’s management and governing board have 
discharged their responsibilities to use the entity’s resources; 

• The DP provides some examples of types of disclosures that may provide information that meets 
the objectives of notes: 

○ Reporting entity 

○ Amounts recognized in the primary financial statements 

○ Unrecognized assets or liabilities 

○ Risks 

○ Methods, assumptions and judgments; and 

• The DP puts forward a number of communication principles. These principles include disclosure 
organization and disclosure linkage. 
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Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income  

• The DP does not propose a definition of financial performance. Furthermore the DP does not 
equate financial performance with total comprehensive income, profit or loss or any other total sub-
total or other commonly used performance measure; 

• The DP summarizes the arguments for and against recycling. The DP gives a preliminary view that 
the Framework should require a profit or loss total or sub-total that also results or could result, in 
some items of income or expenses being recycled from OCI; 

• The DP discusses two approaches to determining which items should be included in OCI: a narrow 
approach and a broad approach: 

• Under the narrow approach what are termed “bridging items” and “ mismatched remeasurements” 
are included in OCI; and 

• Under the broad approach what are termed “transitory remeasurements” would also be included in 
OCI in addition to “bridging items” and “mismatched remeasurements.” 

The Chair said that he did not find the considerable amount of discussion on OCI surprising as it is a 
contentious issue and at standards level the attribution of items to OCI had not been based on 
transparent principles. A Member found the terminology complex. He questioned whether there are 
disadvantages to defining elements for OCI. Another Member cautioned that while the DP does not 
provide a conceptual view of profit and loss the IPSASB is arguably not succeeding in defining financial 
performance.  It was also suggested that, due to the complexity of the issue, it may not be possible to get 
a perfect answer to what financial performance is.  

Some reservations were expressed that in presentation the approach and terminology of the IASB differs 
from that of IPSASB. Concerns were also expressed that, unlike the IPSASB, the DP defines primary 
financial statements. The Coordinator said that this was due to the broad approach that the IPSASB had 
taken to presentation. 

Members welcomed the summary and found the comparison of the elements and definitions proposed by 
the two Boards especially useful.  
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The Preface to the Conceptual Framework 

The Coordinator highlighted that in accordance with the direction at the June meeting the draft Preface 
had been modified and posted to the IPSASB section of the IFAC website as a Preliminary Board View. 

4A. Conceptual Framework Elements 
Members considered staff papers which included: 

• An analysis of the application of the Conceptual Framework Exposure Draft (CF–ED2), Elements 
and Recognition in Financial Statements and the Alternative Views in CF–ED2, and the measures 
of surplus(deficit), net assets and net financial position that would be presented in the statement of 
financial performance and financial position in different circumstances; 

• Additional analysis of responses to CF–ED2; and 

• Proposed amendments to CF–ED2 to give effect to the decisions of the IPSASB at its June 2013 
meeting and additional issues identified by respondents to CF–ED2.  

Deferred Inflows and Deferred Outflows 

Members noted that: 

• A majority of respondents opposed the identification of deferred inflows and deferred outflows as 
elements. However, a number of these respondents acknowledged the issue that the introduction 
of these elements was intended to respond to and agreed that there is value in providing 
information on deferred items; and 

• Respondents that opposed the identification of deferred inflows and deferred outflows as separate 
elements had different views about the treatment of deferred items, as follows: 

○ Some were of the view deferred items that did not satisfy the definitions of assets or 
liabilities should be recognized as revenues or expenses;  

○ Some were of the view that the deferred items should be embraced within the definitions of 
assets and liabilities; and  

○ Others expressed support for either Alternative View 1 or 2. 

Members briefly discussed the analysis of measures of financial performance and net financial position 
that would result from application of CF–ED2 and the Alternative Views to the examples considered in the 
staff paper. The Chair noted that in some jurisdictions, the deferred items may be accounted for in a 
manner that was different from that identified by CF–ED2 or the Alternative Views. For example, deferred 
inflows may be treated as a separate class of liabilities, or a separate class of obligations. Some 
Members noted that they had also had experience of circumstances in which deferred inflows were 
accounted for in this manner. They also noted that the implications of identification of particular classes of 
flows or stocks as elements was not always clear, and subject to different interpretations, including 
whether the financial statements may recognize and present items that did not satisfy the definition of an 
element. Consequently the issues facing the Board were more complex than simply deciding whether to 
adopt the CF–ED2 approach or one of the approaches identified in the Alternative Views. 

Members discussed the views and concerns of respondents regarding the identification of deferred items 
as separate elements and their consequences for measures of financial performance and net financial 
position that would be presented in the statement of financial performance and the statement of financial 
position. Some Task Based Group (TBG) and other IPSASB Members also noted that they shared 

 Agenda Item 1.3  
Page 19 of 47 



Draft Minutes September 2013 IPSASB Meeting  
IPSASB Meeting (December 2013) 

concerns about some aspects of the CF–ED2 proposals regarding the identification of deferred items as 
separate elements and/or how those elements were defined.  

Members noted that: 

• Chapter 2 of the Conceptual Framework explains that the financial performance of most public 
sector entities will not be fully or adequately reflected in any measure of financial results presented 
in financial statements, and will need to be assessed in the context of, for example, the 
achievement of service delivery objectives, compliance with approved budgets, and prospective 
financial information; and 

• The Consultation Paper, Conceptual Framework For General Purpose Financial Reporting By 
Public Sector Entities: Elements and Recognition in Financial Statements, identified two broad 
measures of financial performance that might be reflected in financial statements—measures that 
focused on either (a) the change in net assets during the period; or (b) the inflow and outflow of 
resources that were more closely associated with activities of the reporting period.  

Some Members expressed the view that both measures of financial performance in the Consultation 
Paper are relevant and useful to users, and expressed some concern that the Conceptual Framework 
should specify that the concept of financial performance that is to be presented in the primary financial 
statements is only one (and not both) of these measures.  

Members noted their views on how this aspect of the proposals in CF–ED2 might be further developed, 
including the following revisions to CF–ED2 approach proposed by staff and the TBG: 

• A presentational approach which would identify and describe time stipulated inflows and outflows 
that did not satisfy the definitions of assets or liabilities as separate classes of revenue or expense 
and confirm that the separate disclosure of this class of revenue or expense had information value. 
The statement of financial performance would then identify as separate identifiable components of 
revenues and expenses those inflows and outflows that that were subject to time stipulations. The 
statement of financial position would also identify the assets that were subject to time stipulations; 
and  

• An approach that disengaged the identification and definition of the elements from issues related to 
their presentation, and refocused this proposed Chapter of the Conceptual Framework on only the 
identification and definitions of the elements. Such an approach would: 

○ Identify the elements of financial statements as assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses, 
ownership contributions and ownership distributions and acknowledge that certain deferred 
items that did not satisfy the definition of an element may also be presented in the financial 
statements. The IPSASB agreed that whether or not these deferred items should be 
identified as separate elements, their key characteristics and how they should be defined 
would be further considered at the next meeting; 

○ Not specify the measure (or measures) of financial performance that is to be reflected in 
the financial statements;  

○ Not specify the financial statements in which each element would be recognized. This 
would allow for the ongoing development of the mechanism for presenting financial 
information by the IPSASB in the future—including developments in the contents and type 
of financial statements that might present information about financial performance; and 
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○ Acknowledge that how the elements may be “assembled” to present information about 
financial performance and financial position would be further developed at standards level. 

The composition and type of the financial statements that would be used to present the 
elements would then be specified at standards level, may evolve over time and may be 
influenced and enhanced by jurisdictional considerations.  

The IPSASB agreed to consider these approaches at the next meeting and directed staff and the TBG to 
prepare a paper which further developed and explained the approaches. 

The IPSASB then continued its review of responses to the other SMCs, and staff’s proposed 
amendments to CF–ED2 to give effect to decisions made at the June 2013 IPSASB meeting. Members 
noted that these amendments were identified in the marked-up draft of CF–ED2 at Agenda Item 4A.3. 

SMC 1–Definition of an Asset 

Relationship of the definition of an asset to the explanation of a resource 

Staff reported that some respondents had expressed a concern that there is overlap between the 
definition of an asset in paragraph 2.1 and the explanation of a resource in paragraph 2.2. In its current 
form the explanation of a resource blurs the distinction between an asset and a resource. Staff proposed 
that the phrase “...with the ability to provide an inflow of service potential or economic benefits” be 
removed from the definition of an asset, because paragraph 2.2 makes it clear that this is the 
characteristic of a resource and consequential amendments be made to paragraphs 3.13 and BC 24 to 
clarify and confirm that a present obligation involves an outflow of resources from the entity. The IPSASB 
agreed with the broad direction of the amendments proposed by staff but directed that the second 
sentence of paragraph 2.2 and the subheading “Service Potential or Economic Benefits” prior to 
paragraph 2.3 should be deleted.  

Terminology: “services” rather than “goods and services” 

Staff noted that in finalizing Chapters 1–4 of the Conceptual Framework and in developing early drafts of 
the proposed Preface to the Conceptual Framework, the IPSASB directed that references should be 
made to “services” rather than “goods and services”. Consequently, the text of this Chapter of the 
Conceptual Framework had been amended for consistency in terminology. The IPSASB agreed with the 
editorial amendments as proposed by staff and directed that the first reference to “services” in this 
Chapter be supported by a footnote which identified that the term “services” encompasses “goods and 
services”. Members noted that such a footnote could usefully be relocated to Chapter 1 of the Framework 
when the final Framework encompassing all Chapters is issued. 

Explanation of Control 

Staff reported that some respondents had expressed the view that the discussion of control in paragraph 
2.6(b) of CF–ED2 is very broad and focuses on only the power to control, without acknowledging that the 
controlling entity must be able to derive benefits from the resource. Staff proposed that paragraph 2.6(b) 
be revised to reflect that control enables the entity to derive the benefits of the resource in the 
achievement of its service delivery or other objectives. After some discussion the IPSASB agreed the 
revised wording of paragraph 2.6(b) as proposed by staff except that reference to “at the reporting date” 
in the first sentence is to be deleted. 

Inflows of service potential and economic benefits 

At its June 2013 meeting, the IPSASB noted that several respondents proposed inserting “future” before 
“inflows” in the definition of an asset. The IPSASB directed that “future” was not to be included in the 
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definition of an asset, but the Basis for Conclusions was to explain that inflows contribute to operating 
capacity and therefore the ability of an entity to deliver services in the future. The IPSASB agreed with the 
amendment to paragraph BC 3 proposed by staff to respond to this direction. 

Staff reported that some respondents also expressed a concern that reference to the ability to provide “an 
inflow” of service potential or economic benefits appears to describe a future resource rather than a 
present resource that the entity controls. Some of these respondents also noted that this reflects that an 
asset delivers an inflow of service potential to the entity, rather than an entity using its service potential to 
provide services to the community. These respondents advocate that it would be clearer to explain that an 
asset is a resource that represents or has the capacity to provide service potential or economic benefits. 
Staff noted that CF–ED2 does not refer to the ability to provide “an inflow” of service potential or 
economic benefits in describing resources or assets, or explain the significance of this term and proposed 
its deletion. The IPSASB agreed with the staff proposal that “an inflow” be deleted from the revised 
description of a resource in paragraph 2.2. 

Risks and Rewards as an Indicator of Control 

At the June 2013 meeting, the IPSASB noted that 2 respondents had suggested adding risks and rewards 
to the list of indicators of control in paragraph 2. However, the IPSASB decided that including references 
to risks and rewards as indicators of control was not appropriate for the main text, but there should be a 
more detailed explanation given of the reason in the Basis for Conclusions. The IPSASB agreed with the 
amendments to paragraph BC 16 proposed by staff to give effect to this direction.  

Unconditional Rights 

At the June 2013 meeting, the IPSASB noted that 2 respondents had expressed concern that the 
explanation in paragraph BC 6 that: 

• Unconditional rights “may give rise to assets, if the entity has paid for them or if the unconditional 
right has acquired an identifiable value in an open, active and orderly market”, may be read as not 
reflecting the principles established in the definition of an asset; and 

• The observation that “…identification of circumstances where unconditional rights give rise to an 
asset is a standards level issue”, did not provide a link to, or acknowledge, the conceptual 
underpinnings that would provide guidance to the standards level discussion.  

The IPSASB agreed to revisit the explanation of unconditional rights at this meeting. Staff proposed that 
to respond to the concerns identified by these respondents paragraph BC 6 should confirm that to qualify 
for recognition unconditional rights would need to satisfy the definition of assets and the recognition 
criteria. Members discussed the revisions to paragraph BC 6 proposed by staff. Staff noted that one TBG 
member had expressed concern that the revisions may be read as allowing a wide range of rights with 
dubious capacity to enhance the service potential or economic benefits of the entity to be recognized as 
assets. The IPSASB agreed with the amendment proposed by staff except that the final two sentences, 
which referred to circumstances in which the recognition criteria were likely to be met, are to be deleted.  

Executory Contracts 

At the June 2013 meeting, the IPSASB noted that some respondents expressed reservations about the 
explanation in paragraph BC 7 that recognition of the rights and obligations related to executory contracts 
should be determined at standards level. Staff noted that underpinning the concern of these respondents 
is a view that whether assets and liabilities arise from unconditional rights and obligations reflected in 
executory contracts should be driven by an assessment of whether those rights and obligations satisfy the 
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definitions of the elements in the Conceptual Framework. Members reviewed staff proposed amendments 
to paragraph BC 7 to respond to these concerns and confirmed that that the IPSASB has the capacity to 
respond at standards level to concerns about the adverse impact on understandability that recognizing 
gross amounts of any elements might have. Members discussed the amendments to paragraph BC 7 
proposed by staff. The IPSASB agreed those amendments except that the phrase “conditional and 
unconditional” in the first line of the additional sentences proposed by staff is to be deleted. 

SMC 2 (a)–Definition of a Liability & 2 (b)–Description of Non-Legal Binding Obligations 

Relationship between a liability and a present obligation and related terminology 

Staff noted that the explanation of a present obligation in paragraph 3.2 of CF–ED2 duplicates some parts 
of the definition of a liability in paragraph 3.1, and proposed paragraph 3.2 be revised to reflect the 
approach proposed to establish the relationship between the definition of the asset and the description of 
a resource (see above). Members reviewed the amendments proposed by staff and directed that further 
amendments be made to paragraphs 3.1 and 3.2 to more closely reflect the structure adopted for the 
definition of an asset and explanation of a resource. To that end the IPSASB agreed that the definition of 
a liability and the description of a present obligation be redrafted to focus more sharply on a liability of an 
entity being a present obligation for an outflow of resources that arises from a past event. Paragraph 3.2 
would then be restructured to describe a present obligation as a legal or other binding requirement which 
an entity has little or no realistic alternative to avoid. 

At the June 2013 meeting, the IPSASB noted that a number of respondents expressed concern that the 
term “non-legal binding requirement” could be interpreted as referring to requirements that were illegal 
and directed staff and the TBG to identify an alternative term. Staff proposed that the term “other binding 
requirement” be adopted as this appears to embrace a range of circumstances that may give rise to 
present obligations in different jurisdictions, and avoid any inappropriate interpretation. The IPSASB 
agreed that this term be adopted for the first draft of the final chapter and that references to “non-legal 
binding requirements” be replaced by the phrase “other binding requirements”.    

Little or No Realistic Alternative 

At the June 2013 meeting, the IPSASB noted concerns raised by respondents regarding the term “little or 
no realistic alternative” in the proposed definition of a liability. After some discussion the IPSASB agreed 
to delete the two words “little or” from the definition and to strengthen the explanation in the Basis for 
Conclusions. Consistent with that decision, staff amended the phrase “little or no realistic alternative to 
avoid” to read “no realistic alternative to avoid” wherever it appeared in CF–ED2, and included an 
explanation of the reasons for the change at paragraph BC 29. However, the IPSASB noted concerns of 
the TBG and staff that deletion of the words “little or no” meant, or may be interpreted to mean, that a 
liability could only arise when the outflow of resources was, in effect, virtually certain and this raised the 
threshold beyond that intended by the IPSASB. The IPSASB agreed this was not the intended outcome of 
the amendment and directed that the words “little or no” be reinstated. 

Economic and Political Coercion 

Members noted that following on from discussion at the June 2013 meeting, paragraph 3.7 had been 
amended to reflect that enforceability does not include economic nor political coercion but that such 
coercion may lead to a liability arising from a non-legal binding obligation. At this meeting the IPSASB 
confirmed the sentiments of the amendments to paragraph 3.7, but expressed some concern that 
“political coercion” would not translate well in all languages and directed staff to consider whether 
alternate wording may equally or better reflect the sentiment intended.  
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Conditional and Unconditional Obligations, Stand-ready Obligations and Performance Obligations 

Members noted that a number of respondents did not agree with the explanation in CF–ED2: 

• Paragraph BC 22: that distinguishing between conditional and unconditional obligations is not 
useful for defining a liability because a conditional obligation can give rise to a liability; and/or 

• Paragraph BC 24: that the notion of a stand-ready obligation does not work well in a public sector 
non-exchange context because it is very difficult to distinguish a stand-ready obligation from other 
conditional obligations and the issue of liabilities arising from social benefits should be considered 
at the standards level.  

At its June 2013 meeting, the IPSASB agreed to retain the explanations in paragraphs BC 22 and BC 24 
of CF–ED2, but that the Basis for Conclusion should be further developed to reflect public sector 
circumstances that can impact on the interpretation of terms such as stand-ready obligations. At this 
meeting the IPSASB reviewed staff proposed amendments to paragraphs BC 22, BC 24 and BC 26 
intended to draw out the complexity of public sector circumstances and acknowledge that, while guidance 
on accounting for particular arrangements may be identified as a standards level issue, whether 
obligations and liabilities arise from those arrangements will depend on whether they satisfy the definition 
and recognition criteria in the Framework. Staff noted that the amendments are also intended to 
overcome concerns that the original wording of these paragraphs may have been interpreted as 
presenting unintended obstacles to the IPSASB developing guidance on what may be described as 
stand-ready obligations or performance obligations in the future.  

Members discussed the proposed amendments and noted the explanation of tentative positions reached 
and matters still under consideration by the IASB in respect of conditional and unconditional obligations 
and stand-ready obligations as explained in the IASB Discussion Paper “A Review of The Conceptual 
Framework for Financial Reporting”. After some discussion, the IPSASB agreed the amendments 
proposed by staff.  

Commitments 

At its June 2013 meeting, the IPSASB noted that some respondents had commented that commitments 
are not mentioned in the Framework although they are very significant in the public sector. The IPSASB 
directed that consideration should be given to acknowledging commitments in the Basis for Conclusions 
and explaining that commitments are liabilities only if they meet all components of the definition of a 
liability. The IPSASB reviewed and agreed the inclusion of an additional paragraph proposed by staff to 
acknowledge the nature and role of commitments in the public sector.  

SMC 3–Definition of Revenue & SMC 4-Definition of Expenses  

At its June 2013 meeting, the IPSASB noted that: 

• A majority of respondents did not agree with the definitions of revenue and expense; and 

• The major reason for this disagreement was because of the consequences for the definitions of 
revenue and expenses of the proposal to identify deferred inflows and deferred outflows as 
elements.  

Members noted that how to respond to a number of matters raised by respondents should be revisited as 
the IPSASB moved closer to a decision on whether to identify deferred inflows and deferred outflows as 
elements and how to define those elements. However, Members noted that some respondents had 
proposed that the Conceptual Framework should require, clarify or provide more detailed guidance on the 
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following matters, and agreed with the staff view that these matters were better dealt with at standards 
level: 

• The triggering event for recognition of revenue and expense; and 

• Separate presentation of operating and capital revenue and expense. 

Members also discussed the following proposals for change to the definitions, explanation or description 
of revenue and expenses and agreed that the changes should not be made: 

• Replace the terms “revenue” and “expenses” with “gains” and “loss”, or replace “revenue” with 
“income”; 

• Include in the explanation of revenue a reference to sovereign revenue; and 

• Remove references to ownership contributions and ownership distributions from the definitions of 
revenue and expenses. 

Staff noted that some respondents suggested expanding the definitions of revenue and expenses to 
provide for revaluations or enhancements of assets and liabilities. One respondent did not support the 
definitions of revenue and expenses in CF–ED2 because they already encompassed unrealized gains 
and losses on assets and liabilities. Staff also noted that some respondents had expressed the view that 
the meaning of ‘inflows” and “outflows” should be clarified. To respond to these concerns staff proposed 
that the meaning of ”inflows” and “outflows” in the definition of revenue and expenses and its relationship 
to paragraph 4.5 which establishes that revenue and expenses include all changes in net assets other 
that ownership contributions, ownership distributions, deferred inflows and deferred outflows should be 
clarified. 

The IPSASB agreed to revisit this matter as its approach to identification of the elements of financial 
statements and notions of financial performance were further developed.  

Revenues and Expenses arising from Fee for Service and Subsidized Activities 

Paragraph BC 36 explains that the IPSASB considered whether revenue should be defined as the gross 
or net amount of the increase in net assets, and decided to define it as the increase in the net amount. BC 
36 also explains that standards may require the gross presentation of the relevant flows on the face of the 
financial statements in certain circumstances, such as the sale of inventory. Staff proposed that BC 36 be 
expanded to encompass some common public sector transactions and arrangements—for example, to 
explain that while the provision of services on a “full fee for service” basis to constituents or 
circumstances in which one party subsidizes part (or all) of the cost of delivery of particular services by a 
government entity may not give rise to an increase (or decrease) in net assets, gross presentation may be 
required by particular standards. The IPSASB decided that BC 36 should not be amended to include 
references to such circumstances because the inflows and outflows of resources that resulted from such 
transactions were separate components and would separately increase and decrease net assets, 
therefore revenue and expenses would also be the gross amount of those inflows and outflows.  

SMC 6–Net Assets, Net Financial Position, Ownership Contributions, Ownership Distributions and 
Ownership Interests 

Net Assets and Net Financial Position 

Members noted that a majority of respondents agreed with the description of net assets but not with the 
description of net financial position, and most respondents that opposed the description of net financial 
position also opposed the introduction of deferred inflows and deferred outflows. Staff noted that some 
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respondents questioned the description of positive and negative net financial position in paragraph BC 47 
and advocated that the relationship between net assets and net financial position be further clarified. A 
respondent also noted that the term “net financial position” is very similar to the term “net financial worth” 
in the Government Financial Statistics Manual although they mean different things.  

Staff proposed amendments to BC 47 intended to clarify the interpretation of net financial position and its 
relationship to net assets and proposed that clarification of any potential confusion between the meaning 
of net financial position and net financial worth be considered following the IPSASB’s decision on the 
identification of deferred inflows and deferred outflows as elements.  

The IPSASB agreed that the sections of CF–ED2 dealing with net financial position should be revisited as 
its approach to identification of the elements of financial statements and notions of financial performance 
were further developed at the next meeting.  

Ownership Contributions and Ownership Distributions  

At the June 2013 meeting, the PSASB considered responses relating to ownership contributions and 
ownership distributions and confirmed that ownership contributions and ownership distributions should 
continue to be identified as elements of the financial statements.  

Members also noted that a respondent had proposed that, to avoid confusion, there was a need to clarify 
how the transfer of assets and liabilities between public sector entities referred to in the second sentence 
of Paragraph 6.5 would be accounted for—or at least explain that the treatment of these transfers would 
be addressed at a standards level. Staff proposed that, if retained, this sentence be clarified by explaining 
that ownership contributions can arise from the transfer of assets and liabilities between public sector 
entities for no consideration and that detailed guidance should be addressed at standards level. Staff also 
requested the IPSASB to consider whether the sentence is necessary since the circumstances dealt with 
in paragraph 6.5 appear to be encompassed by explanation in paragraph 6.6. The IPSASB noted that 
respondents had not proposed deletion of the sentence and agreed it should be retained and modified as 
proposed by staff.  

Ownership contributions and ownership distributions as elements of the statement of financial position.    

Staff noted that paragraphs 1.2 and 6.2 of CF–ED2 specify that ownership contributions and ownership 
distributions are elements in the statement of financial position. Staff questioned whether ownership 
contributions and ownership distribution were more appropriately identified as elements of a “flow” 
statement, such as a statement of changes in net assets as is currently included in the suite of IPSAS 
financial statements. Staff noted the comments of some respondents also reflect some concern with the 
designation of these items as elements of the statement of financial position 

Members noted that at the next IPSASB meeting it would consider whether this Chapter of the 
Conceptual Framework should be refocused on defining the elements without specifying the financial 
statements in which each element would be recognized. The IPSASB agreed to revisit this matter after 
that consideration.  

SMC 7–Recognition 

At its June 2013 meeting, the IPSASB decided that it was not appropriate to specify recognition 
thresholds in a Conceptual Framework, and directed that the Basis for Conclusions should include: 

• An acknowledgement that thresholds dealing with existence uncertainty may be developed at 
standards level; and 
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• As an example of measurement uncertainty, an example of a legal case where the outcome was 
unknown.  

Staff also proposed that in response to a concern raised by a respondent, paragraph 7.5 of CF–ED2 
should include a reference to the QCs rather than just to relevance and faithful representation.  

Members reviewed an additional paragraph staff proposed be included in the Basis for Conclusions to 
give effect to these clarifications. The IPSASB approved the clarifications but directed that the phrase 
“unspecified amounts of damages” should be deleted from the text of the additional paragraph. 

The Next Meeting 

The Chair noted that it was intended that at the next meeting the IPSASB would consider revised 
approaches to the deferrals issue. A draft of the “elements and recognition” chapter of the Conceptual 
Framework reflecting the IPSASB’s decisions on this and other matters would then be prepared for review 
at the March 2014 meeting. 

The Chairman also noted that the IPSASB had now considered the substantial issues identified by 
respondents, even if the IPSASB had not been able to respond in the manner proposed by the 
respondent in all cases.  

Staff advised that respondents had also identified a number of editorial and other sharply focused drafting 
issues intended to ensure the definitions and their explanation achieve the result intended by the IPSASB.  
These matters will be brought to the attention of the IPSASB as it reviews the draft Chapter. Staff also 
noted that it will continue to revisit responses to CF–ED2 as this phase of the Framework is developed to 
ensure that issues relevant to proposed developments are not overlooked. 

One Member noted that, whatever the final decision of the IPSASB in respect of the approach adopted to 
identification of deferred items as elements, it was important that the Basis for Conclusions acknowledged 
the discussion at this meeting of such matters as whether: 

• Revenue and expenses should be defined as period flows or a change in net assets; 

• This Chapter of the Conceptual Framework should focus on only the definition and explanation of 
the elements without specifying the financial statements in which those elements are to be 
recognized; and 

• Both notions of financial performance identified in the Elements Consultation Paper (and perhaps 
other notions of financial performance) may be relevant and useful to users and should not be 
excluded from representation in the financial statements as a result of decisions made about the 
focus of this Chapter of the Conceptual Framework.  

The IPSASB agreed that the Basis for Conclusions should include such acknowledgement. 

 

4B. Conceptual Framework Measurement 
The IPSASB considered an Issues Paper that provided a further analysis of the responses to Conceptual 
Framework Exposure Draft (CF–ED3), Measurement of Assets and Liabilities in Financial Statements, 
and identified a number of issues on which Staff sought directions in order to develop a first draft of a final 
chapter on Measurement.  

Staff noted that 39 responses had been received to CF–ED3. 37 of these responses had been reflected in 
the agenda materials for the June 2013 meeting. The Issues Paper and revised Collation and Summary 
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at Agenda Item 4B.2 included Responses 038 and 039. Apart from the addition of comments from 
Respondents 038 and 039 only minor revisions had been made to the Collation and Summary from the 
version presented at the June meeting. 

Views of Respondents 038 and 039 

Staff had summarized the views of Respondents 038 and 039. In the view of Staff these responses raised 
a number of important issues from different perspectives. 

Staff pointed out that Respondent 038 considered the discussion of historical cost unbalanced and felt 
that it favored replacement cost as the measurement basis for determining the cost of services. Staff 
noted that Respondent 039 had taken the converse view that CF–ED3 was too supportive of historical 
cost. Respondent 038 had expressed a view that CF–ED3 was insufficiently clear about one of the main 
advantages of historical cost; that this measurement basis provides information that resource providers 
can use to assess the fairness of the taxes they have been assessed or the rates they have been 
charged, thereby enhancing accountability. 

Staff acknowledged this view and proposed to incorporate some of it in the Basis for Conclusions. The 
Chair noted that some constituents strongly supported historical cost and said that, in some jurisdictions, 
historical cost was considered the only appropriate measurement basis. One member expressed 
uncertainty about what would be added to the text and had some reservations whether Respondent 038 
had considered the alternatives fully. In the view of this member it might be appropriate to discuss the 
view of Respondent 038 in the Basis for Concussions, but not in the main text. Staff agreed that any such 
discussion should be limited to the Basis for Conclusions.  

Staff highlighted that Respondent 039 had exhorted the IPSASB to adopt an aspirational approach and 
had advocated that a measurement objective should be underpinned by a single preferred concept of 
capital. These points were to be considered in more detail later in the session. 

Members agreed that Staff had summarized the views of Respondents 038 and 039 adequately. 

Measurement Objective 

Staff noted that CF–ED3 had not proposed a specific measurement objective. It proposed that the 
selection of a measurement basis should be based on the extent to which a particular measurement basis 
meets the objectives of financial reporting: the provision of information for accountability and decision- 
making purposes. Although this proposal was uncontroversial and received full or partial support from a 
large majority of respondents expressing a view, a number of those who had partially supported the 
approach considered that it should be supplemented by a measurement objective. A minority of 
respondents had opposed the approach. Reasons for opposing the approach included a strong 
preference for historical cost and a need for the approach to emphasize prudence. Staff said that the 
issue of prudence had been addressed in Phase 1 and did not think that it should be reopened. Members 
agreed with this view.  

The direction at the June 2013 meeting had been to develop a measurement objective based on the 
Alternative View (AV) in CF–ED3. Staff said that Respondent 039 had argued in favor of an aspirational 
measurement objective based on an ideal measurement model, supported by an explicit concept of 
capital and had reminded the IPSASB of its 2011 submission to the Consultation Paper, Measurement of 
Assets and Liabilities in Financial Statements. This response identified and explained three concepts of 
capital: 
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• Invested money capital 

• Current cash equivalents 

• Operating capability 

Staff expressed a view that neither the invested money capital nor current cash equivalents concepts of 
capital are appropriate for entities, which have a primary objective of delivering services rather than 
generating cash flows. Staff considered that the operating capability concept is highly relevant for public 
sector entities whose primary objective is the delivery of services. However, in the view of staff, adoption 
of such a measurement objective involved a virtually explicit acknowledgement that current cost 
measures are superior to historical cost. Staff had therefore concluded that it would not be feasible to 
espouse the operating capability concept of capital in the final Measurement chapter unless the IPSASB 
were to reverse its view of historical cost.  

There was general reluctance to make an explicit statement relating to concepts of capital and capital 
maintenance. It was noted that Respondents 038 and 039 expressed starkly opposing views on this 
issue. It was also considered that assets and liabilities have an impact on the financial performance and 
financial position of an entity in different ways. The IPSASB therefore decided that the measurement 
objective should not be based on an ideal concept of capital. 

It was noted that at the June meeting staff and the TBG had been directed to develop a measurement 
objective that was based on the objective in the AV and that the objective should include references to the 
QCs and constraints. Staff restated reservations that the objective was too aligned to current value 
measurement bases, while acknowledging that the inclusion in the AV objective of a reference to “cost of 
services” could provide a link to historical cost. The TBG had taken the view that the measurement 
objective in the AV is appropriate and that references to the QCs and constraints in financial reporting 
should be in supporting narrative.  

The IPSASB did not agree that the AV objective is over-oriented to current measurement bases. Some 
views were expressed that the QCs should be incorporated into the objective and that the objective 
should be subsidiary to the QCs. However, the IPSASB directed that the QCs should not be incorporated 
into the objective, but should be addressed in supporting narrative. A minor wording change was agreed 
that “attributes” should be changed to “bases”. The revised wording to be included in the draft final 
chapter is therefore: To select those measurement bases that most fairly reflect the financial capacity, 
operational capacity and cost of services of the entity in a manner that is useful in holding the entity to 
account, and for decision-making purposes. 
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Current Value Measurement Bases 

Staff noted that CF–ED3 proposed four current value measurement bases for assets: market value, 
replacement cost, net selling price and value in use. Staff expressed the view that the most controversial 
aspects of the approach to current value measurement bases were that: 

(i) Fair value was not included in the proposed measurement bases; 
(ii) Replacement cost was proposed as a measurement basis in its own right rather than as 

a valuation technique for estimating fair value; and whether 
(iii) Net selling price should be retained in the final chapter. 

Staff explained that the rationale for not proposing fair value as a measurement basis was that: 
(i) Market value and fair value are largely synonymous, and that to propose both as 

measurement bases would therefore be confusing for users; and 
(ii) The IASB at standards level in IFRS 13 defines fair value explicitly as an exit value: the 

price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  

It was further noted that the IASB Conceptual Framework DP described fair value as “the most frequently 
used current value measurement” and cites the IFRS 13 definition of fair value. This definition differs from 
the definition of fair value in the IPSASB’s current literature, which is based on the IASB’s pre-IFRS 13 
definition of fair value. While a minority of respondents disagreed strongly, Staff questioned whether the 
application of an exit value is appropriate for assets that are primarily held for their operational capacity 
and where there is no current intention to realize the asset. Prescribing measurements based on exit 
values in such circumstances therefore, arguably, does not meet the QC of relevance. 

In the view of Staff there were three main options in dealing with this issue: 
(i) Adopt the IFRS definition of fair value; 
(ii) Retain its current definition of fair value; or 
(iii) Remove fair value as a measurement basis altogether as proposed in CF–ED3.  

Staff summarized the implications of each of these options. Adopting the IFRS definition would mean 
using a definition of fair value that is not well aligned with the objectives of most public sector entities – 
the delivery of services rather than the generation of cash flows. It was therefore questionable whether 
measures based on the current IFRS definition would provide relevant information for many assets held 
for their operational capacity and for liabilities arising from non-exchange transactions where it is not 
feasible to transfer the liability. However, adopting the IASB definition of fair value would make the 
maintenance of convergence with IFRS more straightforward in the future. 

Retaining the current definition or a slightly modified version of the current definition in the IPSASB 
literature would mean that two global standard setters would have different definitions of the same term.  

Defining market value rather than fair value has implications for the IPSASB’s current literature, which 
uses fair value widely. IPSAS 12, Inventories, IPSAS 16, Investment Property, IPSAS 17, Property, Plant 
and Equipment, IPSAS 27, Agriculture, and IPSAS 29, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, all contain measurement requirements that apply fair value. 

One member asked for clarification of the measurement approach in the Government Finance Statistics 
Manual (GFSM). Staff said that IPSASB’s approach at standards level had been to align with IFRS rather 
than government finance statistics (GFS). Staff’s understanding was that GFS took a current value 
approach The Observer from the Government Finance Division of the IMF informed members that the 
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GFSM used a current market value approach with estimations where a market value is not observable. 
One member suggested that adoption of option (i) might involve divergence from GFS. 

Members noted that the definition of fair value had developed over recent years and that the IPSASB 
definition had not developed to reflect these changes. Therefore whatever option was selected there is a 
need to examine and update the use of fair value in the IPSASB’s literature and to ensure that fair value 
is used consistently  

It was pointed out that the proposed definition of market value is virtually the same as the current 
definition of fair value and that the staff proposal was therefore a rebranding exercise. 

It was also suggested that because of the different overall objectives of financial reporting and different 
measurement objectives of the IPSASB and the IASB it was logical that measurement concepts would 
differ. There was general support for option (iii) and Staff was directed to draft the final chapter on this 
basis. Staff also proposed that market value should be defined separately for both assets and liabilities. 
This was accepted. 

Staff summarized the main criticisms of replacement cost made by some respondents to CF–ED3, mainly 
that it was over-complex; subjective, because it is entity-specific; that the difficulties of obtaining market-
based evidence had been exaggerated and that replacement cost as proposed in CF–ED3 was not based 
on a “highest and best” valuation principle.  

The complexity and entity-specific nature of replacement cost was acknowledged. Nevertheless Staff 
considered that these factors needed to be balanced against the contention that replacement cost often 
provided the most relevant information. Staff suggested that CF–ED3 had perhaps exaggerated the 
difficulty of obtaining robust and observable market-based evidence and could be read as advocating 
replacement cost for all operational assets. Staff considered that market value could be used for many 
non-specialized operational assets where markets were generally open, active, and orderly and that this 
should be reflected in the final chapter. Staff also proposed that it should be clarified that the phrase 
“optimized depreciated replacement cost” should be used on first reference to replacement cost to 
indicate that replacement cost, as used in the Framework, is based on assessments of the service 
potential that an asset provides rather than the asset itself. The IPSASB directed that replacement cost 
should be retained in the final chapter. 

Some respondents had questioned whether net selling price is an entity-specific measure and also 
whether it differs from market or fair value. Staff acknowledged that net selling price reflects market-based 
evidence, but expressed a view that it reflects an immediate exit and does not assume an open, active 
and orderly market; therefore it is appropriate to describe it as entity-specific. It was also pointed out that 
net selling price could reflect a contractual price that may not be market value. 

One member asked whether net selling price might be negative under the proposed definition Staff was 
directed to retain net selling price but to carry out further analysis on whether net sealing price could be 
negative. It was agreed that net selling price would be retained as a measurement basis. 

It was also agreed that value in use would be retained as a measurement basis in the final chapter. 

Fair Value Measurement Model  

Staff sought confirmation of the tentative decision at the June meeting to delete the fair value 
measurement model from the draft final chapter while relocating some of the material into the discussion 
of market value. The IPSASB reaffirmed that the fair value model should not be included in the draft final 
chapter. 
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Deprival Value Model 

Staff sought confirmation of the tentative decision at the June meeting that the deprival value model 
should not be included in the final chapter. There was general support for omitting the deprival value 
model. Staff was asked what aspects of the model might be relocated to Section 3. Staff said that the 
relationship between net selling price and value in use could be incorporated in Section 3. One member 
commented that while he was content for the section on deprival value to be deleted he wanted the 
rationale for not including the deprival value model to be included in the final chapter. This approach was 
accepted. 

Liabilities 

Staff pointed out that CF–ED3 had proposed five measurement bases for liabilities: historical cost, market 
value, cost of release, assumption price and cost of fulfillment. Staff highlighted that some respondents 
had questioned whether cost of assumption and cost of release should be retained as they were unlikely 
to be feasible in many public sector circumstances. Another respondent questioned whether cost of 
release differed from market value. Staff expressed a view that cost of release differs from market value 
because it refers to an immediate exit from the obligation and therefore that it is not dependent on the 
existence of an open, active and orderly market.  

Staff accepted that cost of assumption and cost of release were likely to provide relevant information in 
limited circumstances, but that this was acknowledged in paragraph BC31 of the Basis for Conclusions, 
Staff suggested that this paragraph might be relocated to the core text. Staff therefore proposed that both 
cost of assumption and cost of release should be retained in the final Chapter. Members supported this 
proposal but did not agree with the suggestion to relocate paragraph BC31 to the core text. 

Staff agreed with the view expressed by a respondent that some of the discussion of the transfer of a, 
liability in the context of cost of release in paragraph 5.9 of CF–ED3 was more related to recognition than 
to measurement. Staff agreed with this point and proposed that some of the material in that paragraph 
should be deleted or moved to the Basis for Conclusions. This approach was accepted. 

Other Issues 

Staff highlighted three further issues on which they sought directions: 

• Valuation of assets on standalone basis or on the basis that they will be used in conjunction with 
other assets/liabilities; 

• Income-based present value valuation approaches; and  

• Other cash flow-based measures. 

A respondent to CF–ED3 had suggested that there should be some guidance on whether measurements 
should be determined on a stand-alone basis or on the basis that they are being used in conjunction with 
other assets. The Framework had not addressed the unit of account issue. Staff expressed a view that 
the determination of the appropriate unit of account is a standards-level issue, but that the Conceptual 
Framework should include a brief allusion to the need at standards level to select the unit of account by 
reference to the QCs and the constraints on financial reporting. 

A respondent to CF–ED3 had suggested that the Framework should address income-based present value 
valuation approaches, including the application of discounted cash flow techniques in the context of 
market or fair value. This proposal was accepted by the IPSASB. 
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Staff referred back to the point in the Coordinator’s Report that the IASB DP had discussed other 
measurement methods involving estimated future cash flows that do not have the objective of estimating 
a fair value or market value. Use of such methods included areas where the IPSASB had current IPSASs 
such as provisions, liabilities for post-employment benefits, the net realizable value of inventories and 
impairment of non-financial assets. Staff did not think that the Framework needs to go into much detail on 
these areas, but proposed acknowledging such cash flow based techniques need, so that they can be 
used in standard setting without conflict with the Framework. Staff considered that cash flow based 
techniques for provisions and liabilities could be addressed in the cost of fulfillment sub-section of the 
Liabilities section. The IPSASB accepted this proposal. 

In the context of both income-based present value valuation approaches and other cash flow-based 
measures it was directed that the Framework should not go into detail on how to perform a discounted 
cash flow computations. It was also noted that cash flow estimation is also used in determining value in 
use. 

Structure of Final Chapter 

Staff proposed a structure for the final chapter that mirrored CF–ED3 except that, in accordance with 
previous decisions, the section on the Fair Value and Deprival Value models would be deleted. It was 
suggested that there should be a separate section on the Measurement Objective. This suggestion was 
supported and the IPSASB directed that the structure should be:  

• Introduction 

• Measurement Objective and selection of Measurement Bases 

• Historical Cost  

• Current Value Measurement Bases for Assets 

• Measurement Bases for Liabilities 

• Basis for Conclusions 

Symbolic Values 

A Member expressed disappointment that there is no intention to include a discussion of “symbolic value” 
in the final chapter. Staff said that a reference would be included in the Basis for Conclusions explaining 
why “symbolic value” had not been included as a measurement basis. 

5. Strategy (Agenda Item 5)  
The Technical Director led the discussion of the IPSASB’s longer term exercise to develop a strategy and 
work plan for the period from 2015 forward. It was highlighted that this is the IPSASB’s first lengthy 
discussion of the future strategy which it intends to issue for public consultation in March 2014.  

With respect to the agenda materials provided, staff asked the members to consider the question of the 
time frame for the strategy and work plan, specifically whether it should be a three year period (consistent 
with previous strategy documents). 

Members discussed the draft consultation paper and highlighted the importance of distinguishing between 
the strategy and the work program. Some members favoured a three year time period for both while 
others commented that generally this can be short in a standard-setting environment. Members were 
generally attracted to not having a specific time period for the strategy, but committing to review the 
strategy at a future time when circumstances or the environment warrant it. 
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As far as the time period for the work program, after discussion, members favoured a five year time 
period as they felt this would be better matched with the project cycles in standard setting. Having a fixed 
time period allows monitoring of achievements. Staff were directed to revise the consultation paper to 
reflect an open ended period for the strategy and a 5 year time period for the work program. 

Recognizing that there is an interrelationship between the strategy and the work program, concerns were 
expressed that there was inadequate discussion of the strategy and that discussion of the work program 
was too heavily weighted. Staff were directed to continue on the basis of preparing a single document but 
to find a way to provide a greater distinction or separation between the two aspects that stakeholders are 
being asked to comment on. Members noted that in future these types of documents might not always be 
issued together. Strategic reviews might be undertaken when there is a reason to do so whereas a review 
of the work program might happen more frequently. In addition, possible new governance arrangements 
might influence the way in which feedback is sought on strategy. 

One member commented on the challenges of undertaking a strategy review when the issues 
surrounding public interest oversight and governance of the IPSASB are not yet addressed. At this point it 
had been anticipated that the consultation paper of the IPSASB Governance Review group would have 
been issued for comment but indications are now that October 2013 timing for issuance is more likely. 
Based on this it is feasible that by the time of issuance of the strategy consultation paper the Review 
Group’s final report may not be available. This creates some measure of a dilemma for the IPSASB as it 
seeks feedback from stakeholders. However members agreed that generally they need to proceed but 
that close monitoring of the situation will continue. 

One member proposed that when issued the strategy consultation paper be accompanied by the previous 
strategy document so that stakeholders have a starting point for comments. The member also highlighted 
that the paper should be clear on areas where departure is not possible i.e. if we are totally free to define 
objectives versus whether there is a limit within which we must define them. 

There was a brief discussion of whether a long-term vision needs to be identified. Members were mixed 
on how helpful this would be.  

Members then discussed the strategic priorities that had been set out in the agenda materials. It was 
noted that these were not written as objectives but rather as activities. Members agreed that the strategic 
priorities need to be more clearly identified in terms of outcomes. As far as the first two specific priorities 
set out (developing IPSASs and developing RPGs) members proposed that these could be grouped 
under a single strategic objective that addresses enhancing or strengthening public finance management. 
Given that a reasonably full suite of standards exists the focus moving forward may be on maintaining 
and improving existing IPSASs more so than on developing new standards. It was noted that developing 
RPGs as guidance for areas outside of financial statements is a clear link to improving public finance 
management.  

In terms of outreach and adoption and implementation, one member highlighted the importance also of 
feedback mechanisms into the IPSASB. Members thought that the strategic priority related to outreach 
should include an enhanced notion of engagement with stakeholders that goes both ways, i.e., outreach 
and “in-reach”. Members noted that importance of collaboration with stakeholders moving towards 
adoption and the need to be flexible at this stage regarding adoption versus adaptation. The need for a 
cooperative strategy was emphasized but also that in an ideal world adoption is the long-term goal. 

Members generally thought that as written the strategic priority related to outreach was understated but 
also cautioned about the role of the standard setter in adoption activities. One member noted the 
difficulties in maintaining objectivity when challenges of adoption are presented. Members agreed 
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generally that adoption depends on jurisdictional issues related to capacity and other factors and 
cautioned that it will be a challenge for the IPSASB to do enough in this area. It was generally 
acknowledged that the IPSASB has a role in promoting adoption of the IPSASs but there was reluctance 
to go too far into the adoption and implementation area. 

Members highlighted that this strategic objective should focus on outreach to promote adoption and 
implementation as well as on developing credible feedback mechanisms in order for the IPSASB to learn 
from others as to application issues. Opportunities to collaborate with preparers, auditors, national 
standards setters, and others, including universities and previous members, should be sought out to 
assist. The need to engage with others in a more sophisticated way that uses the community was 
emphasized.  

There was some discussion of feedback mechanisms for example an interpretations committee though it 
was noted that this would be resource intensive. However the possibility of discussion groups or forums 
that might assist users in conferring with others on problem areas was raised. Discussion forums have 
been used in some jurisdictions and this could be explored. One member cautioned about the resource 
intensive nature of post implementation reviews and noted the need to be realistic. 

As part of the discussion the cash basis review project was raised. It was highlighted that fewer than ten 
jurisdictions currently use the cash basis IPSAS. Members noted the challenge of conflicting information. 
In developing the cash basis standard, it was assumed that it would be regularly used as a stepping stone 
to adopting accrual IPSASs but in practice this has not been the case and many jurisdictions are adopting 
accrual IPSASs without using the cash basis IPSAS. It was recalled that at the meeting last December, 
the ICGFM had presented to the IPSAB and had noted that while good cash reporting is necessary to lay 
the foundation before an accrual accounting system can be established, many developing countries and 
countries in transition do not yet have the capacity to move from a good cash reporting system to an 
accrual accounting system, and had expressed the need for the IPSASB to address difficulties with the 
cash basis IPSAS. Members agreed to make a clear decision as part of this strategic review on the future 
of the cash basis IPSAS. Such a decision should be made in the light of a more informed position of the 
costs and benefits of addressing issues with implementing this standard. 

There was some discussion of differential reporting and whether the IPSASB should attempt to address 
the issues of smaller entities. Members provided various examples of jurisdictions that have developed 
IPSASs for smaller governments with the primary differences being reduced disclosure requirements. 
Members noted that the project description set out in the agenda materials focused on small and medium 
enterprises and proposed that this title be changed to differential reporting.  

In terms of the document as a whole, one member suggested that a SWOT (strengths, weaknesses, 
opportunities and threats) might be added. Members also discussed whether more information should be 
included regarding the funding constraints the IPSASB faces. Members agreed that while the IPSASB is 
underfunded that this document is not the place for this discussion and that the paper should be 
developed on the assumption that a similar level will continue. Specific reference to individual funders 
should not be made.  

Members asked staff to draft a revised paper to reflect these comments for further discussion in 
December.  

6. Social Benefits (Agenda Item 6) 
The IPSASB considered a draft project brief on Social Benefits, following the decision to reactivate the 
project at the June meeting. Staff noted that both the IPSASB and its predecessor, the Public Sector 
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Committee (PSC), had devoted considerable resources to accounting for social benefits and summarized 
the outputs:  

• Invitation to Comment, Accounting for Social Policies of Government (January 2004) 

• Exposure Draft (ED) 34, Social Benefits: Disclosure of Cash Transfers to Individuals or Households 
(March 2014); and 

• Consultation Paper, Social Benefits: Issues in Recognition and Measurement (March 2014). 

Need for further Consultation Paper 

Staff said that the timetable in the project brief was based on the assumption that a further Consultation 
Paper (CP) would be developed. However, given the amount of previous work that had been carried out 
on social benefits, the need for a further CP was questionable. The timetable projected that, if a CP is 
developed, an IPSAS would be approved in late 2016 or early 2017. Moving straight to the development 
of an Exposure Draft (ED) might allow an IPSAS to be approved in 2015. 

There was some support for moving straight to development of an ED. Some Members emphasized the 
need to develop an IPSAS quickly in response to the criticism that the lack of an IPSAS on social benefits 
is a major “gap” in the IPSASB’s literature and questioned whether a further CP would provide more than 
marginal benefits. However, most Members supported the development of a further CP. It was noted that 
the last CP had been published over five years ago and that a further CP would enable the IPSASB to 
explore and obtain views on more recent developments, such as the relevance of insurance accounting 
for some social benefits programs. A further CP would also provide an opportunity for outreach. Many of 
those Members who favored the development of a new CP considered that it should be tightly focused, 
should build on the 2008 CP and that it should reflect the primary users of financial reports identified in 
the Conceptual Framework.  

Members directed that a further CP should be developed. 

Scope of project  

Staff said that a key issue would be to determine the appropriate scope of the project. ED 34 had defined 
social benefits and used a classification approach derived from the 2004 ITC. This classification approach 
distinguished “collective goods and services”, “individual goods and services” and “cash transfers” and 
defined these terms. The purpose of these sub-categorizations and definitions was to facilitate an 
analysis of when present obligations arise for different types of social benefit.  

In considering the response to the 2008 CP the IPSASB questioned whether collective goods and 
services should be a defined term and a sub-category of social benefits. The IPSASB noted that virtually 
all respondents to the CP agreed that, if present obligations to beneficiaries arise for collective goods and 
service this is not prior to service delivery. Shortly before the project was deactivated it was tentatively 
decided that collective goods and services should be removed from the scope. Staff asked the IPSASB to 
reaffirm this tentative decision. 

It was noted that in the Government Finance Statistics Manual (GFSM) social benefits are identified by 
their role in mitigating “social risk”. What the IPSASB had termed “collective goods and services” would 
not be considered “social benefits” in statistical accounting. It was also noted that the GFSM distinguished 
“social insurance” schemes that generally require contributions from beneficiaries and “social assistance” 
schemes in which benefits are not generally related to contributions. The IPSAB directed that collective 
goods and services should not be considered to be social benefits. The IPSASB also directed that the 
project should consider the viability of converging with the terminology used in the GFSM. 
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A view was expressed that the scope of the project should include all expenses arising from non-
exchange transactions, rather than being limited to social benefits. Such an approach would potentially 
provide a mirror of IPSAS 23, Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers). The 
rationale for such a broader scope was acknowledged; there is no consensus on what social benefits 
includes and the same principles should be applied to all non-exchange expenses regardless of where 
they are deemed to social benefits. A narrow scope also creates a risk that similar transactions might be 
treated differently. A broader scope would allow issues such as accounting for subsidies to be 
considered. 

A number of Members considered that, due to the complexity of the subject, broadening the scope of the 
project would lengthen the timelines to finalize an IPSAS. The Chair cautioned that, in his view, the wide 
scope of the PSC’s original project had lengthened the time taken and had created resistance amongst 
some constituents. Other Members pointed out that the work plan consultation had identified social 
benefits as a potential project rather than a broader project and that initiation of a broader project would 
therefore be inappropriate. Members directed that the scope of the project should be limited to social 
benefits. 

The project brief was unanimously approved by all Members present. 

7. Reporting Service Performance (Agenda Item 7)  
The IPSASB reviewed a draft Exposure Draft Recommended Practice Guideline (ED–RPG XX), 
Reporting Service Performance Information. Members first considered whether ED–RPG XX should apply 
to (a) Government Business Enterprises (GBEs) and to (b) entities in national jurisdictions that already 
have extensive service performance information reporting requirements for their public sector entities. 
With respect to GBEs, some members supported inclusion of an encouragement for GBEs to apply the 
RPG. Members agreed that the guidance in the RPG could be useful to GBEs that report service 
performance information, and the RPG should not imply that GBEs should not apply the guidance. 
However members decided that the RPG’s wording should remain consistent with that used in the 
IPSASB’s first two RPGs, RPG 1, Reporting on the Long Term Sustainability of an Entity’s Finances and 
RPG 2, Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis, which state that an RPG applies to “…entities other 
than GBEs”. Members directed staff to include discussion in the ED–RPG XX’s Basis for Conclusions, 
which explains that this standard wording should not be read as implying that the RPG should not be 
applied by GBEs.  

With respect to entities in national jurisdictions with extensive service performance reporting requirements 
members agreed that the RPG should not provide support for entities to argue for less reporting. 
Members noted that ED–RPG XX states that it sets out minimum information levels and “…does not 
preclude the presentation of additional information if such information is useful in meeting the objectives 
of financial reporting and meets the qualitative characteristics of financial reporting.” Members directed 
Staff to also (a) address this issue in the RPG’s basis for conclusions, and (b) review RPGs 1 and 2 for 
further wording relevant to this concern. On this basis it was concluded that the RPG could be applied to 
entities in such jurisdictions. Members further noted that the standard wording on an RPG’s application 
may need reconsideration. 
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Members next considered proposed revisions to the performance indicator definitions previously 
considered by the IPSASB in December 2012. The IPSASB identified further revisions and one additional 
definition, “services”, for inclusion in ED–RPG XX.  

The IPSASB then carried out a detailed, page-by-page review of ED–RPG XX. The main changes 
identified during this review, for staff action, were to: 

(a) Revise the Specific Matters for Comment (SMCs) so that they focus on particular issues and 
include SMCs with respect to (a) the reporting boundary for service performance information, 
and (b) scope for GBEs to apply the RPG; 

(b) Include performance indicator examples in the definitions section; 

(c) Clarify how the RPG addresses different levels of reporting through revisions to the 
“Reporting Entity” and “Performance Indicators” subsections; 

(d) Include a description of the IPSASB vision of service performance reporting; 

(e) In the section on disclosures about “parameters”, (i) change the term to “basis”; and (ii) revise 
the paragraph on information about risk tolerance, including an illustrative example; and 

(f) Remove the coverage of principles in “Location and Organization”, while ensuring that the 
earlier principles section addresses the later coverage to the extent necessary. 

Staff was directed to revise draft ED–RPG XX and provide it to members by mid-October, for an inter-
meeting review. Members will review the agreed changes and provide any remaining issues to staff, so 
that ED–RPG XX can be considered at the IPSASB’s December 2013 meeting with a view to approval.  

8. Closing Remarks and Conclusion of Meeting 
The Chair noted the progress on a number of projects particularly the approval of a large number of 
exposure drafts. He thanked the technical and support staff. Additionally he also thanked staff from other 
standard setters for their very significant and high quality input. 

The meeting was adjourned at 3:00 pm on September 19, 2013. 
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9. Appendix 1 – September 2013 Action List 

Action Required Person(s) 
Responsible 

Date to be Completed 

1.  Conceptual Framework—General John Stanford  

• Update and re-circulate CF project plan  September 30, 2013 

2. Conceptual Framework—Elements John Stanford  

• Update ED for conversion into final chapter in 
accordance with directions at September meeting 

Paul Sutcliffe November 18, 2013 

• Develop Issues Paper analyzing approaches to 
deferred inflows and deferred outflows for 
discussion with TBG 

John Stanford & 
TBG 

November 8, 2013 

• Revise Issues Paper  and circulate as agenda item 
for December meeting 

John Stanford November 18, 2013 

3. Conceptual Framework—Measurement John Stanford  

• Develop first draft of final chapter and circulate to 
TBG  

John Stanford November 1, 2013 

• Revise first draft of final chapter and circulate as 
agenda item for December meeting  

John Stanford November 18, 2013 

4. Social Benefits John Stanford  

• Update project brief for directions at September 
2013 meeting 

 October 18, 2013 

5. Service Performance Information Gwenda Jensen  

• Revise draft RPG for changes identified at 
September meeting and circulate to IPSASB 
members 

 October 11, 2013 

• IPSASB members provide comment on draft RPG  October 25, 2013 
• Post draft RPG for December meeting   November 15, 2013 

6. Update of IPSASs 6–8 Joanne Scott  

• Prepare EDs 48 to 52 for publication  October 5, 2013 
• Prepare and agree press release in conjunction 

with Chair and New York Communications 
 October 5, 2013 

7. First-Time Adoption of Accrual Basis IPSASs Amanda Botha  

• Revise and update draft Exposure Draft with issues 
discussed at June 2013 meeting and post for 
meeting 

 September 3, 2013 

8. Strategy and Work Planning Stephenie Fox  

• Revise draft strategy and work plan based on 
IPSASB’s discussions 

 October 11, 2013 
 

• Work with TBG to refine draft for December 
IPSASB meeting 

 Week of October 28, 
2013 

9. Communications   

• Action List posted to IFAC Extranet Leah Weselowski October 1, 2013 
• Power Point presentations posted to IFAC Extranet Leah Weselowski October 1, 2013 
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Action Required Person(s) 
Responsible 

Date to be Completed 

• Draft minutes posted to IFAC Extranet Leah Weselowski November 1, 2013 
• Update IPSASB Summary of IASB Work Plan and 

Tracking Table 
Ross Smith November 18, 2013 

• Meeting Highlights posted to IFAC website Ross Smith October 4, 2013 
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10. Appendix 2 – Voting Record 

10.1 – Vote #1– Approve ED – First Time Adoption of Accrual IPSAS 

 
Agenda Item 2 Minutes Item 2 Date Vote Taken September 16, 2013 

Description Exposure Draft 
First Time 

Adoption of 
Accrual IPSAS 

Approved at 
meeting 

Final Standard  □ ED  ■ CP □ Other □ 

 

IPSASB MEMBER FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN ABSENT NOTES 

Andreas Bergmann, Chair √     

Ron Salole, Deputy Chair √     

Ian Carruthers √     

Robert Dacey √     

Mariano D’Amore √     

Rachid El Bejjet √     

Sheila Fraser √     

Guohua Huang √     

Kenji Izawa √     

Masud Mazaffar √     

Thomas Müller-Marqués 
Berger √     

Anne Owuor √     

Guy Piolé   √   

Jeannine Poggiolini √     

Adriana Tiron Tudor  √     

Wan Selamah Wan Sulaiman √     

Ken Warren √     

Tim Youngberry √     

TOTAL 17 0 1 0 18 
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10.2.1 – Vote #2– Approve ED – IPSASs 6–8 

 

Agenda Item 3.2 Minutes Item 3 Date Vote Taken September 16, 2013 

Description Exposure Draft 

ED 48, 
Consolidated 

Financial 
Statements 

(issued as ED 49) 

Approved at 
meeting 

Final Standard  □ ED  ■ CP □ Other □ 

 

IPSASB MEMBER FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN ABSENT NOTES 

Andreas Bergmann, Chair √     

Ron Salole, Deputy Chair √     

Ian Carruthers √     

Robert Dacey  √    

Mariano D’Amore √     

Rachid El Bejjet √     

Sheila Fraser √     

Guohua Huang √     

Kenji Izawa √     

Masud Mazaffar √     

Thomas Müller-Marqués 
Berger √     

Anne Owuor √     

Guy Piolé √     

Jeannine Poggiolini √     

Adriana Tiron Tudor  √     

Wan Selamah Wan Sulaiman √     

Ken Warren √     

Tim Youngberry √     

TOTAL 17 1 0 0 18 
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10.2.2 – Vote #2– Approve ED – IPSASs 6–8 

 

Agenda Item 3.3 Minutes Item 3 Date Vote Taken September 16, 2013 

Description Exposure Draft 
ED 49, Joint 

Arrangements 
(issued as ED 51) 

Approved at 
meeting 

Final Standard  □ ED  ■ CP □ Other □ 

 

IPSASB MEMBER FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN ABSENT NOTES 

Andreas Bergmann, Chair √     

Ron Salole, Deputy Chair √     

Ian Carruthers √     

Robert Dacey √     

Mariano D’Amore √     

Rachid El Bejjet √     

Sheila Fraser √     

Guohua Huang √     

Kenji Izawa √     

Masud Mazaffar √     

Thomas Müller-Marqués 
Berger √     

Anne Owuor √     

Guy Piolé √     

Jeannine Poggiolini √     

Adriana Tiron Tudor  √     

Wan Selamah Wan Sulaiman √     

Ken Warren √     

Tim Youngberry √     

TOTAL 18 0 0 0 18 
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10.2.3 – Vote #2– Approve ED – IPSASs 6–8 

 

Agenda Item 3.4 Minutes Item 3 Date Vote Taken September 16, 2013 

Description Exposure Draft 

ED 50, Disclosure 
of Interests in 
Other Entities 

(issued as ED 52) 

Approved at 
meeting 

Final Standard  □ ED  ■ CP □ Other □ 

 

IPSASB MEMBER FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN ABSENT NOTES 

Andreas Bergmann, Chair √     

Ron Salole, Deputy Chair √     

Ian Carruthers √     

Robert Dacey √     

Mariano D’Amore √     

Rachid El Bejjet √     

Sheila Fraser √     

Guohua Huang √     

Kenji Izawa √     

Masud Mazaffar √     

Thomas Müller-Marqués 
Berger √     

Anne Owuor √     

Guy Piolé √     

Jeannine Poggiolini √     

Adriana Tiron Tudor  √     

Wan Selamah Wan Sulaiman √     

Ken Warren √     

Tim Youngberry √     

TOTAL 18 0 0 0 18 
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10.2.4 – Vote #2– Approve ED – IPSASs 6–8 

 

Agenda Item 3.5 Minutes Item 3 Date Vote Taken September 16, 2013 

Description Exposure Draft 

ED 51, Separate 
Financial 

Statements 
(issued as ED 48) 

Approved at 
meeting 

Final Standard  □ ED  ■ CP □ Other □ 

 

IPSASB MEMBER FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN ABSENT NOTES 

Andreas Bergmann, Chair √     

Ron Salole, Deputy Chair √     

Ian Carruthers √     

Robert Dacey √     

Mariano D’Amore √     

Rachid El Bejjet √     

Sheila Fraser √     

Guohua Huang √     

Kenji Izawa √     

Masud Mazaffar √     

Thomas Müller-Marqués 
Berger √     

Anne Owuor √     

Guy Piolé √     

Jeannine Poggiolini √     

Adriana Tiron Tudor  √     

Wan Selamah Wan Sulaiman √     

Ken Warren √     

Tim Youngberry √     

TOTAL 18 0 0 0 18 
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10.2.5 – Vote #2– Approve ED – IPSASs 6–8 

 

Agenda Item 3.6 Minutes Item 3 Date Vote Taken September 16, 2013 

Description Exposure Draft 

ED 52, 
Investments in 
Associates and 
Joint Ventures 

(issued as ED 50) 

Approved at 
meeting 

Final Standard  □ ED  ■ CP □ Other □ 

 

IPSASB MEMBER FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN ABSENT NOTES 

Andreas Bergmann, Chair √     

Ron Salole, Deputy Chair √     

Ian Carruthers √     

Robert Dacey √     

Mariano D’Amore √     

Rachid El Bejjet √     

Sheila Fraser    √  

Guohua Huang √     

Kenji Izawa √     

Masud Mazaffar √     

Thomas Müller-Marqués 
Berger √     

Anne Owuor √     

Guy Piolé √     

Jeannine Poggiolini √     

Adriana Tiron Tudor  √     

Wan Selamah Wan Sulaiman √     

Ken Warren √     

Tim Youngberry √     

TOTAL 17 0 0 1 18 
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10.3 – Vote #3– Approve Project Brief – Social Benefits 

 

Agenda Item 6 Minutes Item 6 Date Vote Taken September 17, 2013 

Description Project Brief Social Benefits 
Approved at 

meeting 

Final Standard  □ ED  □ CP □ Other ■ 

 

IPSASB MEMBER FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN ABSENT NOTES 

Andreas Bergmann, Chair √     

Ron Salole, Deputy Chair √     

Ian Carruthers √     

Robert Dacey √     

Mariano D’Amore √     

Rachid El Bejjet √     

Sheila Fraser    √  

Guohua Huang √     

Kenji Izawa √     

Masud Mazaffar √     

Thomas Müller-Marqués 
Berger √     

Anne Owuor √     

Guy Piolé √     

Jeannine Poggiolini √     

Adriana Tiron Tudor  √     

Wan Selamah Wan Sulaiman √     

Ken Warren √     

Tim Youngberry √     

TOTAL 17 0 0 1 18 
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	4. Conceptual Framework (Agenda Item 2)
	4.1 Coordinator’s Report (AP 2)0F


	 A very high level summary of the initial Staff perceptions on the response to Conceptual Framework Exposure Draft 4 (CF–ED4), Presentation in General Purpose Financial Reports;
	 The Project Timetable;
	 Issues in the International Accounting Standards Board’s (IASB) Discussion Paper,  A Review of the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting; and
	 The Preface to the Conceptual Framework.
	 Terminology: Concerns that (i) the descriptions of “display” and “disclosure” imply that note disclosures in the financial statements are less important than displayed information and always have to relate to displayed information; (ii) the IPSASB t...
	 Location decisions: Whether location decisions should be treated as a subset of information organization decisions, instead of being treated as a third type of decision; and
	 Fundamental approach: Opposition to development of presentation concepts applicable to both financial statements and other financial reports.
	Issues in the International Accounting Standards Board’s (IASB) Discussion Paper, A review of the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
	Elements and Recognition
	The IASB DP had proposed definitions of five elements:


	 Assets;
	 Liabilities;
	 Equity;
	 Income; and
	 Expense.
	 Cash receipts;
	 Cash payments;
	 Contributions of equity;
	 Distributions of equity;
	 Transfers between classes of equity;
	The Coordinator noted the following further points on elements and recognition:

	 An acknowledgement in the DP of the distinction in the existing Framework between (i) revenue arising in the course of the ordinary activities of an entity and gains, which represent other items that meet the definition of income and may, or may not...
	 The IASB did not propose to define separate elements for income and expenses reported in profit or less and income and expenses reported in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI);
	 A preliminary view in the DP that the definition of a liability should not be limited to obligations that are enforceable by legal or equivalent means;
	 Stand-ready obligations are obligations where the requirement to transfer an economic resource depends on the occurrence of one or more future events that are outside the control of the entity. The IASB had concluded that these unconditional obligat...
	 In the context of conditionality where the eventual need to transfer economic resources is dependent on the entity’s future actions the DP examined three views and applied these views to a number of scenarios. The IASB had not established a consensu...
	 There were few perceived problems with the definitions of income and expenses in the current Framework and any changes to those definitions are likely to be limited to minor drafting changes resulting from changes to the definitions of the other ele...
	 The DP indicates that the IASB could improve the existing brief material on executory contracts in the existing Framework by explaining the nature of the rights and obligations that arise under executory contracts and other forward contracts and why...
	 The analysis of recognition distinguishes existence uncertainty and outcome uncertainty. Outcome uncertainty is broadly similar to what the IPSASB has termed “measurement uncertainty”; and
	 The DP expressed a view that the Conceptual Framework should not set a probability threshold to determine whether an asset or liability exists, in the rare cases when this is uncertain. If there is significant uncertainty is significant in a particu...
	Measurement
	The Coordinator also highlighted that:


	 The DP had expressed a view that the number of different measurements used should be the smallest number necessary to provide relevant information;
	 The DP groups measurement into three categories
	○ Cost-based measurements
	○ Current market prices
	○ Other cash-flow-based measurements

	 Cost-based measures include what IPSASB has termed historical cost. The DP provides a definition of cost derived from IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, IAS 38, Intangible Assets and IAS 40, Investment Property: the amount of cash or cash equiva...
	 The CP notes that what is to be included in cost is further specified at standards level. The initial; cost–based measures can be adjusted subsequently for a variety of reasons including depreciation or amortization, accrual of interest, accretion o...
	 There is a brief discussion of deprival value which is broadly similar to the discussion in the Basis for Conclusion in the IPSASB Consultation Paper on Measurement, but the DP does not propose adoption of the deprival value model;
	 The DP states that fair value is the most frequently used current value measurement in existing IFRSs and provides the definition in IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement: price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an...
	 It is acknowledged that current market prices are often not directly observable and need to be estimated. This gives rise to issues of relevance, disclosures related to faithful representation and cost-benefit considerations;
	 The DP suggests that an exit price is likely to be relevant when an asset is held for sale. In contrast entry prices might provide more relevant information when assets are held for use rather than for sale or exit prices are unavailable or do not r...
	 The other cash-flow-based category acknowledges that such measures are neither current market prices nor cost-based. The DP indicates that such measurement are currently used in IFRSs for:
	○ Impairments of financial assets, lease receivables and lease liabilities carried at amortized cost;
	○ Impairment of non-financial assets;
	○ Net realizable value of inventories;
	○ Provisions;
	○ Liabilities for post-employment benefits; and
	○ Deferred tax assets and liabilities.

	 The relevance of a particular measurement at both initial recognition and subsequently will depend on how investors, creditors and other lenders are likely to assess how an asset or liability will contribute to the entity’s future cash flows; and
	 The DP discusses entity and market perspectives. It suggests that the use of a particular perspective depends on two factors– the availability of market information and the likely relevance of each perspective for the specific asset or liability. Th...
	Presentation

	 The DP uses the term “presentation” to denote disclosure of financial information on the face of an entity’s primary financial statements. “Disclosure” is a broader term: the process of providing useful financial information about the reporting enti...
	 Unlike the IPSASB’s Framework the DP identifies the primary financial statements:
	○ The statement of financial position;
	○ The statement of profit or loss and OCI (or the statement of profit or loss and the statement of comprehensive income);
	○ The statement of changes in equity; and
	○ The statement of cash flows.

	 The DP proposes that the objective of the primary financial statements is to provide summarized information about recognized assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses, changes in equity and cash flows that has been classified and aggregated in a...
	 The notes to the financial statements support the primary financial statements. They supplement the primary financial statements by providing additional useful information about:
	○ The assets, liabilities equity, income, expenses, changes in equity and cash flows of the entity; and
	○ How efficiently and effectively the entity’s management and governing board have discharged their responsibilities to use the entity’s resources;

	 The DP provides some examples of types of disclosures that may provide information that meets the objectives of notes:
	○ Reporting entity
	○ Amounts recognized in the primary financial statements
	○ Unrecognized assets or liabilities
	○ Risks
	○ Methods, assumptions and judgments; and

	 The DP puts forward a number of communication principles. These principles include disclosure organization and disclosure linkage.
	Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

	 The DP does not propose a definition of financial performance. Furthermore the DP does not equate financial performance with total comprehensive income, profit or loss or any other total sub-total or other commonly used performance measure;
	 The DP summarizes the arguments for and against recycling. The DP gives a preliminary view that the Framework should require a profit or loss total or sub-total that also results or could result, in some items of income or expenses being recycled fr...
	 The DP discusses two approaches to determining which items should be included in OCI: a narrow approach and a broad approach:
	 Under the narrow approach what are termed “bridging items” and “ mismatched remeasurements” are included in OCI; and
	 Under the broad approach what are termed “transitory remeasurements” would also be included in OCI in addition to “bridging items” and “mismatched remeasurements.”
	 An analysis of the application of the Conceptual Framework Exposure Draft (CF–ED2), Elements and Recognition in Financial Statements and the Alternative Views in CF–ED2, and the measures of surplus(deficit), net assets and net financial position tha...
	 Additional analysis of responses to CF–ED2; and
	 Proposed amendments to CF–ED2 to give effect to the decisions of the IPSASB at its June 2013 meeting and additional issues identified by respondents to CF–ED2.
	 A majority of respondents opposed the identification of deferred inflows and deferred outflows as elements. However, a number of these respondents acknowledged the issue that the introduction of these elements was intended to respond to and agreed t...
	 Respondents that opposed the identification of deferred inflows and deferred outflows as separate elements had different views about the treatment of deferred items, as follows:
	○ Some were of the view deferred items that did not satisfy the definitions of assets or liabilities should be recognized as revenues or expenses;
	○ Some were of the view that the deferred items should be embraced within the definitions of assets and liabilities; and
	○ Others expressed support for either Alternative View 1 or 2.

	 Chapter 2 of the Conceptual Framework explains that the financial performance of most public sector entities will not be fully or adequately reflected in any measure of financial results presented in financial statements, and will need to be assesse...
	 The Consultation Paper, Conceptual Framework For General Purpose Financial Reporting By Public Sector Entities: Elements and Recognition in Financial Statements, identified two broad measures of financial performance that might be reflected in finan...
	 A presentational approach which would identify and describe time stipulated inflows and outflows that did not satisfy the definitions of assets or liabilities as separate classes of revenue or expense and confirm that the separate disclosure of this...
	 An approach that disengaged the identification and definition of the elements from issues related to their presentation, and refocused this proposed Chapter of the Conceptual Framework on only the identification and definitions of the elements. Such...
	○ Identify the elements of financial statements as assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses, ownership contributions and ownership distributions and acknowledge that certain deferred items that did not satisfy the definition of an element may also be pr...
	○ Not specify the measure (or measures) of financial performance that is to be reflected in the financial statements;
	○ Not specify the financial statements in which each element would be recognized. This would allow for the ongoing development of the mechanism for presenting financial information by the IPSASB in the future—including developments in the contents and...
	○ Acknowledge that how the elements may be “assembled” to present information about financial performance and financial position would be further developed at standards level.

	 Unconditional rights “may give rise to assets, if the entity has paid for them or if the unconditional right has acquired an identifiable value in an open, active and orderly market”, may be read as not reflecting the principles established in the d...
	 The observation that “…identification of circumstances where unconditional rights give rise to an asset is a standards level issue”, did not provide a link to, or acknowledge, the conceptual underpinnings that would provide guidance to the standards...
	 Paragraph BC 22: that distinguishing between conditional and unconditional obligations is not useful for defining a liability because a conditional obligation can give rise to a liability; and/or
	 Paragraph BC 24: that the notion of a stand-ready obligation does not work well in a public sector non-exchange context because it is very difficult to distinguish a stand-ready obligation from other conditional obligations and the issue of liabilit...
	 A majority of respondents did not agree with the definitions of revenue and expense; and
	 The major reason for this disagreement was because of the consequences for the definitions of revenue and expenses of the proposal to identify deferred inflows and deferred outflows as elements.
	 The triggering event for recognition of revenue and expense; and
	 Separate presentation of operating and capital revenue and expense.
	 Replace the terms “revenue” and “expenses” with “gains” and “loss”, or replace “revenue” with “income”;
	 Include in the explanation of revenue a reference to sovereign revenue; and
	 Remove references to ownership contributions and ownership distributions from the definitions of revenue and expenses.
	 An acknowledgement that thresholds dealing with existence uncertainty may be developed at standards level; and
	 As an example of measurement uncertainty, an example of a legal case where the outcome was unknown.
	 Revenue and expenses should be defined as period flows or a change in net assets;
	 This Chapter of the Conceptual Framework should focus on only the definition and explanation of the elements without specifying the financial statements in which those elements are to be recognized; and
	 Both notions of financial performance identified in the Elements Consultation Paper (and perhaps other notions of financial performance) may be relevant and useful to users and should not be excluded from representation in the financial statements a...
	4B. Conceptual Framework Measurement

	 Invested money capital
	 Current cash equivalents
	 Operating capability
	 Valuation of assets on standalone basis or on the basis that they will be used in conjunction with other assets/liabilities;
	 Income-based present value valuation approaches; and
	 Other cash flow-based measures.
	 Introduction
	 Measurement Objective and selection of Measurement Bases
	 Historical Cost
	 Current Value Measurement Bases for Assets
	 Measurement Bases for Liabilities
	 Basis for Conclusions
	5. Strategy (Agenda Item 5)
	6. Social Benefits (Agenda Item 6)

	 Invitation to Comment, Accounting for Social Policies of Government (January 2004)
	 Exposure Draft (ED) 34, Social Benefits: Disclosure of Cash Transfers to Individuals or Households (March 2014); and
	 Consultation Paper, Social Benefits: Issues in Recognition and Measurement (March 2014).
	7. Reporting Service Performance (Agenda Item 7)
	The IPSASB reviewed a draft Exposure Draft Recommended Practice Guideline (ED–RPG XX), Reporting Service Performance Information. Members first considered whether ED–RPG XX should apply to (a) Government Business Enterprises (GBEs) and to (b) entities...
	With respect to entities in national jurisdictions with extensive service performance reporting requirements members agreed that the RPG should not provide support for entities to argue for less reporting. Members noted that ED–RPG XX states that it s...
	Members next considered proposed revisions to the performance indicator definitions previously considered by the IPSASB in December 2012. The IPSASB identified further revisions and one additional definition, “services”, for inclusion in ED–RPG XX.
	The IPSASB then carried out a detailed, page-by-page review of ED–RPG XX. The main changes identified during this review, for staff action, were to:
	(a) Revise the Specific Matters for Comment (SMCs) so that they focus on particular issues and include SMCs with respect to (a) the reporting boundary for service performance information, and (b) scope for GBEs to apply the RPG;
	(b) Include performance indicator examples in the definitions section;
	(c) Clarify how the RPG addresses different levels of reporting through revisions to the “Reporting Entity” and “Performance Indicators” subsections;
	(d) Include a description of the IPSASB vision of service performance reporting;
	(e) In the section on disclosures about “parameters”, (i) change the term to “basis”; and (ii) revise the paragraph on information about risk tolerance, including an illustrative example; and
	(f) Remove the coverage of principles in “Location and Organization”, while ensuring that the earlier principles section addresses the later coverage to the extent necessary.
	Staff was directed to revise draft ED–RPG XX and provide it to members by mid-October, for an inter-meeting review. Members will review the agreed changes and provide any remaining issues to staff, so that ED–RPG XX can be considered at the IPSASB’s D...
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